In the matter of the Aarhus Convention Compliance Committee

ELIZABETH CONDRON
Communicant
- and -
UNITED KINGDOM
Party concerned
RESPONSE TO

SUBMISSIONS OF THE COMMUNICANT

Note: This document has been prepared by Miller Arvgent (South Wales) Limited 1o assisi the UNECE
Aarhus Convertion Compliance Committee ("Compliance Commiitee”) and the Parly concerned following
the communication received rom Paul Stockes of Richard Buxton Environmental & Public Law dated 11
June 2009 {"Communication™).

Additional documents referred to in shis response are refel':enced by page numbers prefaced MA e.g. [MAI]

This response follows the order af the | ph numbers and ahbreviations used by the Communicant in her

submission save that the expressien "miu]n‘jg cempany” is substituted by “Miller Argent” as mining company
does not accurately encompass the naee of the operations undertaken by Miller Argent (Scuth Wales)
Limited. :

A INTRODUCTION

1.1 This response is submitted on behalf of Miller Argent (South Wales) Limited
("Miller Argent”) in response to the Communication submitted on behalf of the

Communicant.

12 It is not accepted that the UK is in breach of its obligations under Article 3(8) of
the Aarhus Convention 1998. In particular it is denied that the Communicant
has been penalised, persecuted or harassed in pursuing her right of access to
justice, To the contrary the Communicant has been provided with significant
assistance by the United Kingdom as she repeatediy asseried her right of access
to justice 1o challenge decisions relating to the Ffos-y-fran land reclamation:

scheme'.

! The Communicant persistently refers to the operations at Flos-y-Tran as an open cast mine scheme whereas
the proper desceiption and 1me nature of the works is o land recfamation scheme,

2.1 Purstant to Article 15, the Compliance Committee has published a manual®
("Manual"} setting out the procedure which it will follow in considering
communications from members of the public such as the Communication. At
several junctures in the Manual, the Compliance Committee emphasises the
importance of prospective communicants ensuring that they have exhausted

domestic remedies before making 2 communication under Article 15:

"In considering any communication from the public, the Compliance Commintee
will take inte gccount the extent to which any domestic remedy (i.e. review or
appeals process) was available to the person making the communication, excepr
where such a remady would have been unreasonably prolonged or inadeguate.
Before making a communication to the Committee, the member of the public
should consider whether the problem could be resolved by using such appeals

mechanisms.™

22 The logic behind this is that if the domestic courts are able to remedy the object
of an individual’s complaint, the State Party in question will not be in breach of
the Convention®. The Communicant has been able to pursue her right of access

to justice and has sought to rely on domestic remedies available.

23 It is not accepted that any proceedings taken by the Communicant are unfair and
inequitable and there has therefore beem no breach of Article 9(4) of the

Convention.

24 Miller Argeni would submit that if there is any inequality of arms in
Environmental Justice it lies against "interested parties” such as itself who are
wnible to recover the costs of repeatedly defending unsuceessful legal

challenges.

® This  can  be  downloaded from  the Complisnce  Commitice’s  websile  at
hup=fwww.unece.org/env/pp/compliance/manualv8.doc
3 ‘Key Poinis' sectien at p.2% of the Manual

4 . \ o . . . L
The need 10 exbaust domestic remedies before bringing a complaint under an interational convention is a

famitiar doctrine in intemational law, and particularly under the Eurepear Conventicn on Human Righrs (see
Ar. 26). ‘
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Factual background

3.1

32
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The Ffos-y-fran land reclamation scheme ("Scheme") is in effect the third phase
of the East Merthye land reclamation scheme ("EMRS™) which was granted
planning permission in [988 and was borne out of the teerible Aberfan disaster in
1966°.

The land reclamation scheme has been considered by all relevant democratically
elected authorities as essential in the public interest and can only be casried out
by incorporating the winning of coal by opencast methods. The scheme has
been promoted by the Council (a democratically elected body representing the
community as a whole) and features in its past, corrent and draft lacal
development plans for the area, adopted or to be adopted in accordance with

statutory procedures or public consultation and invelvement,

Miller Argent was granted p[aﬁning permission ("Permission") for the Scheme
at Ffos-y-fran on 11 April 2005 by the National Assembly for Wales
("Assembly"). The Scheme comprises the third and final phase of the EMRS,
which has been included in development plan policies for the area since the
1980s. Before the Council was able to determine the application, it was 'called
in’ for determination by the Assembly. Following that call in, the Council
resolved to grant planning permission for the Scheme. A two week public
inquiry into the Scheme was subsequently held in 2004. At the public inquiry,
numerous objectors, both individually and by way of informal associations,

spoke against the development.

The Inspector who conduected the inquiry concluded that the Schems was in
accordance with the development plan for the area and recommended in his
report to the Assembly that planning permission be granted. The Asse;mhly‘s
Head of Planning also submitted a report to the relevant committee of the
Assembly recommending that the Permission be. granted. These
recommendations were followed by the Assembly and planning permission for

the Scheme was granted,

5

On.:he 21 Octaber 1966, 144 people, 116 of thein children, were killed when a tip of coal waste slid omo
the viilage of Aberfan near 1o Merthyr Tydfil in South Wales. Much of the 1ip material was subsequently
moved to the tand al Flos-y-fran and forms part of the works to be reclaimed, )

3.5

3.6

37
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Miller Argent's planning application was accompanied by a comprehensive
Environmental Statement and the subsequent grant of the Permission was in full
compliance with the requirements of Directive 85/337/EEC as transposed into
English Law by the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact

Assessment) (England) Regulations 1999,

The Scheme is now operational and Miller Argent has invested some £95 million
in it, creating 200 [ufl-time jobs in an area of high unemployment.
Approximately £200 million worth of contracts are committed to the Scheme.
The Scheme thus provides a vital contribution to the local economy. Any
astempt to prevent or frustrate work on the site will threaten that contribution

The Scheme has been the subject of public inquiries in respect of both planning
and compulsory purchase orders. The opportunities for the public to engage
with the decision making process in relation to the Scheme have been

copsiderable and no party has been deprived of their right to participate in the

process.

The Communicant incorrectly summarises the written evidence to the Select

Committee on Welsh Affairs 2007-2008 which actually stated:

"This scheme represents the largest authorised coal mining reserve in South

Wales™,

The location map [1) was withdrawn by the Communicant's solicitor at a hearing
in the High Court in April 2009 because it does not accurately reffect the
position of the Commumicant's home in relation to the scheme’. The
Communicant has consistently misrepresented the proximity of her home to the
scheme (it is actually 713m from the closest boundaty of the scheme and 3.5km

from the disposal point which has been the subject of the most recent

proceedings).

fSec item 1.2 page 80 and item LO.5 page 89 of the Official Repan of the House of Commons Welsh Affairs
Committee: Energy in Wales: First Report of Session 2007-08 “This company (MHler Argent (Soutl: Wales)
Limited} was specificatly set g 10 corey out the Ffos-y-fran Land Reclamation Scheme in Merthyr Tvdfil
South Wales, This seheme represents the largest authorised coal mining reserve in South Wales. ' [MA1]
7 The Conimincant's home is net situated 500m from the Scheme - at a hearing in e High Court the
Communicant’s solicitor accepted that the plan exhibited at page | of the Communicact’s bundle incorreetly
identified the Communicant's bome which is actuaily more than 700m away from the land reclamation site
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5.1

The Communicant's legal challenge CO/1272/2008 alleging a failure to take
enforcement action for breach of condition was sefused permission to proceed by
the court as being premature because there had been no breach of condition.
Miiler Argent has no and never had an intention to excavate right up to the site
boundary for the recovery of coal in breach of condition. It is for this reason that

no operations have occurred in breach of condition, not because of the legal

action brought by the Communicant, which was in any event rejected by the

Court,

The allegation that the Council has failed to comply with the environmental
impact assessment (EIA) regime by granting permission for the processing,
washing and transportation of up to 1.5 million tomnes of coal at the
Cwmbargoed Disposzl Point was rejected by M Justice Colling on 9 March
2009. The Communicant renewed her application for judicial review and sought
an oral hearing which took place on 30 April and 1 May 2009 at which Mr
Justice Beatson also rejected the application for permission to bring judicial

review.

Despite the decisions of two High Court judges with particular expericnce and
standing in this area of administrative law, that there was no reasonable prospect
of a claim succeeding, the Communicant has exercised her right to renew the
permission application to the Court of Appeal, and a hearing to determine
whether permission to bring judicial review proceedings should be granted took

place on 18 January 2010 when judgment was reserved.

It can be seen that far fram being deprived of access to environmental justice the
Communicant has embarked on no less than five separate sets of proceedings® in
the last four years, has pursued two of these cases to the Court of Appeal, sought
leave to pursue one of the cases to the House of Lords, and is also petitioning the

European Parliament about one of the cases.

The Communicant aileges that she and many other local residents are
experiencing significant "noise and dust pollution" from the land reclamation
scheme. In separate correspondence the Communicant's solicitors have alleged
that a nuisance has been caused, but neither a claim in statuwtory or private

nuisance has been received by Miller Argent or their solicitors.

% See history of legal challenges in the Appendix to these submissions

5.2

6.1

6.2

71

Miller Argent has procedures in place to respond to complaints made 1o the

Council or to it in connection with the operations undertaken in coanection with

the scheme.
B DETAILS OF ARTICLE 3(8) BREACH
The Communicant asserts that one of her

"primary concerns was the potential for the pracessing aperations to increase
the annual coal extraction production from 0.75-1 million tonnes of ceal per
ammim to 1.5 million tonnes per anmum.  Such an increase in production was
likely to cause even greater pollution problems of noise and dust depositions in

fhe localities”,

The Communicant attempted to make a similar assertion in the High Court to
which the judge, Mr Justice Beatson, having read the evidence of the Council,
Caerphilly CBC and Miller Argent responded comprehensively at paragraphs 45
and 46 of his judgment’ and said in refation to the Ffos-y-fran site and the

disposal point:

- ".there is no evidence whatseever before the court thar gronting this or the

earlier applications would increase output from Ffos-y-fran.

.tha sites are distiner in function and purpose, and history, and there is no
arguable logical connection between them. Although material extracted at Ffos-
y-fran is taken 1o the disposal point, 50 is material from other mines in South

Wales.”
the Communicant’s complaint is therefore brought on an erroneous basis,
1 Pressure on local residents to back down from proceedings

It is contrary to the principles of natral justice for a defendant not to know the
identity of the party bringing proceedings against it. As a consequence it was
entirely reasonable and proper for the Council 1o seek details of the clatmants

who were intending to bring proceedings against it

? judgment dated 1 May 2009 [MA2]
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The Council was perfectly justified in seeking the names of the individuals
behind the residents’ group which was originatly intending to bring the EIA
challenge. Aricle 3(8) of the Convention is specifically without prejudice to
domestic courts' ability to make reasonable awards of costs. Had the residents’
group brought the litigation, as an unincorporated association its members would
be jointly and severally liable to pay the Council's costs in the event that the
claim failed. The Council was therefore plainly entitled to inquiry of the identity

of those members,

The Council were entirely correct to state that it was insufficient to write on
behalf of a "residents’ group” of indeterminate nature, A residents' group of
uncertain constitution and membership cannot be said to be a natural legal
person within the meaning of Article 2. Moreover for a member of the public to
be "concerned” they have 1o demenstrate how they are affected or likely to be
affected by the environmentai decision making in question. A notional residents’
group with no defined members cannot demonstrate how it is affected by the
decision making. ‘

Even if paragraph. 8 of the Communication is correct in asserting that the
Council wrongly stated the faw as to the standing of unincc;rporaled assaciations
in judicial review proceedings, this cannot on any reasonable view have
amounted to the group being "penalised, persecuted or harassed” within the
meaning of Article 3(8). Plainly the Convention does not prevent parties to a
litigious dispute setting out what they genuinely believe the legal position 1o be;
it is then open to either parly to take legal advice to consider whether or not that
assertion is comect. In any event, the Council's correspondence did not
ultimately prevent a claim being brought by the Communicant so it is difficult to
see how the Council’s correspondence couid be said to have prevented access to

justice.

As well as its obligations under the Aarhus Convention the Council also has
legal obligations to its constituents which require it to resist or defend
unmeritorious legal proceedings brought against the Council. It is a basic
princigle of the English fegal system that an unsuccessful claimant in legal
proceedings will normally bear the successful party's legal costs. The English
legal system does, however, make a concession in the case of claims brought by
individuals who have obtained a certificate of public funding. In such cases a

legally-aided claimant will not normally be required to pay the successful party's

costs without an order from the Court. It is instructive that the Communicant is

such an individual, and it is rot understood why she can be said to have been

" deprived of environmental justice where her costs in bringing claims have besn

met by the UK Government and the costs of the successful pariies in the various
unsuccessful claims that she has brought canrot be enforced against her without
an order of the court (which would normally only be made where the

Commaunicant’s financial circumstances had changed).

It is denied that the Council placed undue pressure on local residents not to
proceed with a ¢laim, Furthermore the rejection of the Communicant's claim by
Mr Justice Colling and Mr Justice Beatson, who both held that the
Communicant’s assertions were unarguable, demonstrates that the Council had a

robust defence to the allegations made against it.

-2 Representations against public fending and no order for costs

11 - 14 Miller Argent has no detailed information as to the financial standing of the

15.2

Communicant although, so far as it is aware, the fact that the Communicant is
said to be disabled has not previously been raised by the Communicant or her

solicitors in any previous proceedings.

As for the Council’s application for costs following the refusal of permission in
the EIA challenge, Article 3(8) of the Convention is specifically without
prejudice to domestic courts” ability to make reasonable awards of costs. There
can therefore be no objection to a public authority making a bona fide
application for costs follawing its suecessful defence of a judicial review claim.
Tt remains in the discretion of the Court to consider whether or not the amount
claimed is uneeasonable, and the unsuceessful claimant is of course entitled to
make submissions on this. Tn the event, the Court ordered that the Communicant
pay (a) the costs of the Council and Caerphilly CBC preparing the
Acknowledgement of Service (b) the further costs incurred as a result of the
Communicant’s failure to file her supporting documents until after the
Acknowledgement of Service was filed, and (c) the costs incurred in considering
the Communicant's reply to the Acknowledgement of Service and a response to

the subsequent argument that time had not expired for the challenge.

it is comect that the Council, Miller Argent and Caerphilly CBC made

represenzations ko the Legal Services Commission being the administrative body
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15.5,

16.1

regulating public funding. The public funding regime makes specific provision
for such representations to be made.”® Mareover the Communicant's soficitor
expressly referred to the making of such eepresentation in their lester 10 the
Council dated 10 October 2008 (copied to Caerphilly CBC and Miller Argenl“s

salicitors) stating:

"We confirm that we have applied for public funding in the event that the pre-
action protocel responses do not satisfv us that the Councils ave acted lowfidly.
We anticipate that you will wish to make representations on any application for
legal aid and the contact details are: Mr Hugh Jarrett, Special Cases Unit, LSC,
Cardiff”

The purpose of the Aarhus Convention is not to grant any party "carte blanche”
to bring proceedings .regardless of the merits of the claim: in the absence of
representations by the Council, Caerphilly CEC and Miller Argent those
responsible for allocating public funding would be unable to reach a balanced

view as to the merits or ctherwise of providing public funding.

The High Couet direction that submissions on costs should be filed was an

entirely normal order following the handing down of judgment.

The submissions by the Council on costs were entirely proper particularly
bearing in mind the considerable expense to which the Council {and interested
party) had been put in defending proceedings which had been pursued by the
Communicant in a highly iregular manner that did not comply with the
requirernents of the Civil Procedure Rules (CPR} and which two High Court

judges had determined were unmeritorious.

The only basis upon which the Courcil could have agreed to the disposal of the
¢laim in a summary fashion would have been in circumstances where the
Couneil agreed with the Communicant that its decision making process had been
unlawful, As the Council did not accept that its decision had been made
unfawfully it could net properly consent to the proceedings being disposed of on

a summary basis.

e Funding Code Procedure C41 [MA3}

16.2.

16.3

It is clearly no defence to a claim for costs ta say that those costs would have
been avoided if the successful party, instead of successfully defending the

proceedings, had admitted lability at an earlier stage.

There is no basis in the Convention for the proposition that any environmental
challenge, no matter how unmeritorious, by a person of limited means should be
entitled to legal aid, The LSC therefore remains able to refuse public funding for
unmeritorious chalienges. It follows in principle that there can be no objection 1o
a local planning authority against whom a claim is brought, which it genuinely
believes is witolly unmeritorious, being able to challenge the grant of funding to

the claimant by way of judicial review,

Given the circumstances stated above, that is to say that a senior High Court
judge had atready ruled that the proceedings had no reasonable prospect of
success before the LSC granted funding for them, it was entirely proper for the
Council to seek to understand the decision making process adopted by the LSC
in agreeing to provide funding.

The evidence does not suggest that the Council’s judicial review challenge was
an attempt to penalise, persecute or harass here, It appears to have been
genuinely motivated by the belief that the LSC was acting outside of its powers.
However, it is understood that the Council's application for permission to apply
for judicial review was unsuccessful and that the claim has subsequently been

discontinued.
3 Direct attack on the Communicant to undermine legal challenge

The Communicant appears to be of the view that Miller Argent is in a position to
influence or direct the press, To the contrary, the press in South Wales is a free
press. Neither the Council nor the UK Government is in a position to control
what is reported in the press. It can be seen from the examples of the coverage
exhibited at [MA4] that the positions of all parties have been reflected in the
press, and to suggest that the press is partisan or representative of a single
inerest is manifestly incorrect. There is no reason to conclude that the Council

has used the press to penalise, persecute or harass the Communicant.

The Fios-y-fran land reclamation scheme is of enormous financial and

environmental importance to South Wales and it is wholly unreasonable to
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suggest that the sulfject matter of legal proceedings cannot be discussed whilst

they are continuing.
4 High Ceurt approach to location of legal proceedings

The UK has devolved the Administrative Court to regional centres with the
expectation that those regional cousts will be responsible for dealing with

proceedings relating to administrative decisions made within their region.

The Communicant has sought to argue, both in the current proceedings, and in
earlier proceedings (see [MAS]) that her case would be prejudiced by being

heard in the regional court for the area in which her claim arises.
Paras, 3,1-3,2 of Practice Direction 54 state, in relevant part:

"3.1 A claim for judicial review may be brought in the Administrative Court

in Wales where the claim or any remedy sought involves...

(2) it issue concerning the National Assembly for Wales, the Welsh
executive, or any Welsh public body (including a Welsh local

authority} {whether or not it involves a devolution issue).

32 Such claims may also be brought in the Administrative Court at the

Rayal Courts of Justice.”

The Communicant ¢hose to bring her claim in the Administrative Court at the
Royal Court of Justice, However, in giving judgment on her previous judicial

review challenge to the Permission, the Court of Appeal emphasised:

"[Tlhe present case cried out to be heard in Wales both at first instance and on
appedd, and it Is & master of considerable regret that efforts were not made to

have it listed for hearing accordingly” (per Richards LT at para, 110) [MAS]

"If ever there were a case to be heard in Wales, this was it" (per Watl LT at para.
131)

20.5

20.6
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However, Mr Justice Beatson was very clear on the point of venue and was
highty critical of the absence of any substantial evidence 1o support an argument

that the Communicant was prejudiced by the venue'.

The same judges are eligible to sit in the Administrative Court in Cardiff as are
eligible to sit in the Administrative Court in Londen. The Communicant has
always been happy for her case to be heard before a High Court judge in
London, and so her view that actual or apparent bias arises as soon as the High

Court judge allocated to the case crosses the border into Wales is irrational.

It is notable that there was no significant public or media interest in the High
Court hearing that took place on 30 April and 1 May 2009. In Miller Argent’s
view the Communicant overstates matters in her assertion that there was "a high

level of tension in the local conmumity”.
C CONCLUSIONS

The Communicant's submissions do not show how the Communicant's
environmental rights have been resricted or fettered. To the contrary, the
Communication confirms that the Communicant has been afforded every
reasonable opportunity to secure access to environmental justice, In fact public
funding provided in the UK has afforded her the opportunity to appoint solicitors
highly experienced in the fields of environmental and public law and has enabled
her to appoint one of the most senior and experienced Queen's Counsel from the

planning and environrrental bar to represent her in court.

In the circumstances it would appear that the Communicant’s main complaint is
that notwithstanding the grant of funding to give her access to justice her claims

have been unsuceessful,

¥ Extract from judgmen: [MA2] "60  The kigh point of the evidence before e is what was said in 2005,
Reliance is also placed on an ariicle in a local paper which is said (o be constructed from & press release
igstied by the interested party after Collins J refused permission. In effect this argument is that regional
coutrts -- and I observe that in Wales there might be some sensitivity about being deseribed as a region --
should not hear maners contentions in that region. I am surprised that Mr Stookes felt able to pursue this
sithunission in the absence of evidence. The subinission that cases should be heard at a locarion remote from
the places and events with which they are concerned is 1o my mind an extraordinary one. It is inconsistent
with the general approach faveuring focal justice,”

Extract from judgment [MAZ2] "62 If a claimant wishes to proceed clsewhere there imay be good reason

for doing so but a generalised allegation of bias or unparticularised concern unbacked by any evidence is

nor enough and is not a proper basis for suck an application.™




23.

24,

26.

It is noted that the quote from the High Court proceedings (R (Condron) v
National Assembly for Wales [2005] EWHC 3316 (Admin) is from the judge
whose rufing was overturned by the Court of Appeal.

The argument about environmental justice in its broader sense (environmental
equity) is unsubstantiated, The location of the Ffos-y-fran land reclamation
scheme is not dictated by the wealih of the surrounding community but by the
location of the land to be reclaimed. The essence of the scheme is 10 reclaim the
land to productive use, removing the historic dangers and dereliction arising
from the historic use of the site, all at no cost to the public purse, and for the
benefit of the community as a whole. The scheme has been supported by the
democratically elected local authority for the area in its statutory development
plans and through resolving to support the application for planning permission
throughout the public inquiry process into that application. The local anthority

continues to support the scheme.
Tn all the circurnstances the committee is asked to conclude that:

b} there was no breach of Article 3(8) (as alleged) in that no real financial

or other pressure was brought to bear by the Council or Miller Argent;

2) that there was no personal attack on the Communicant and that the local

media presented a broadly balanced picture of the proceedings; and

)] in the absence of any evidence from the Communicant that she had
actually been intimidated, or would be intimidated, as a consequence of
the transler of proceedings from London to Cardiff the High Court was
entirely proper Lo require the proceedings to be conducted in the region

to which the complaint refated.

The Communicant has not demonstrated that there is any issue of general public
importance arising out of the matters complained of, to the contrary the
Communicant has simply sought to use the committee ns a further forum 1o

ventilate arguments that were unsuccessful in the UK court system.

Miller Argent trusts that these submissions are of assistance but if further
information or clarification is required please do not hesitate to contact their

solicitors whose details are set out below.

DLA Piper UK LLP
101 Barkirclli Square
Manchester

M23DL

Ref: CGB/68560/120004




Appendix
Histary of Legal Challenges by the Communicant

In 2005 the Communicant brought a legal challenge to the Pérmission for the
scheme alleging substantive deficiencies and procedural unfuirness. The
substantive challenge on planning grounds was dismissed by both the High
Court and by the Coust of Appeal: see Condron v. National Assembly for
Wales [2005] EWHC Civ 1573, The narrow procedural unfaimess point
succeeded in the High Court but was rejected by the Court of Appeal, which
upheld the permission. The House of Lords refused 10 grant the Communicant
leave 10 appeal. The Communicant received public funding to bring this legal
challenge.

On 29 October 2007 the Communicant wrote a pre-action letter threatening to
bring judicial review proceedings against the Assembly for failing to determine
the Claimant’s request that the permission for the scheme should be revoked.

The claim has not been pursued.

On 4 January 2008 a further pre-action protocol letter was sent to the Assembly
again threatening judicial proceedings, this time in connection with the
Assembly’s letter of 6 December which set out in detail its reasons for rejecting
the Claimant's request that the permission for the scheme should be revoked. An
application for further public funding was made to the LSC 1o fund those
proceedings. It is understood that the LSC rejected the Communicant's
application on the basis that it was "techaically deficient”. So far as Miller
Argent is aware, the application was not renewed, neither was a judicial review

claim form issued in respect of the threatened proceedings against the Assembly.

On 26 February 2008 a claim was made for judicial review of the Council's
decision on 18 December 2007 not to take enforcement action against Miller
Argent “in relation to its proposal te excavate land right wp to the site
boundary”. The application which was made by the Communicant to LSC for
public funding to pursue this further challenge was refused. Notwithstanding the
absence of public funding the Communicant pursved her claim. On 20 March
2008 the claim for judicial review was put before Mr Justice Sullivan who

refused pertnission.

On 29 September 2008 the Commaunicant sent a pre-action letter to the Council
and to Caerphilly CBC seeking to challenge their decisions to grant planning
peemission for the refurbishment of the Cwmbargoed Disposal Point. On 9
March permission to pursue the claim was refused by Mr Justice Collins. Ata
renewal hearing on 30 April and 1 May permission te pursue the claim was also
refused by Mr Justice Beatson. Permission to appeal the decision was refused by
Mir Justice Beatson. The Communicant has now applied to the Court of Appeal
for permission o appeal against the refusal of permission to appeal. A hearing
took place to consider the question of permission in January 2010 at which

judgment was reserved.




MA1

Y
3
H
4
¥

L
i

S

[sl=twT=T.

House of Commons
Welsh Affairs Committee

Energy in Wales:
follow-up inquiry

First Report of Session 2007-08

Report, together with formal minutes, oral and
written evidence

Ordered by The House of Commons
to be printed 11 December 2007

HC 177

[Incorporating HC 221-I-if, Session 2006-07]
Published on 17 December 2007

by autherity of the House of Commons
London: The Stationery Office Limited

£0.00




The Welsh Affairs Committee

The Welsh Affairs Committee is appointed by the House of Commans to examine
the expenditure, administration, and policy of the Office of the Secretary of
State for Wales (including relations with the National Assembly for Wales),

Current membership

Dr Hywel Francis MP (Labour, Aberavon) (Chairman)

Mr Stephen Crabib MP (Conservative, Preseli Pembrokeshire)
Mr David T.C. Davies MP [Conservative, Maonmouth)

Ms Nia Griffith M? (Labour, Lianelli)

Mrs 5ién C. James MP {Labour, Swansea East)

Mr David Jones MP (Conservative, Clwyd West)

Mr Martyn fanes MP {Labour, Chwyd South)

Rt Hon Afun Michael MP {Labiour, Cardiff South and Penarth)
Mr Albert Owen MP (Labour, Ynys Mdn)

Mr Mark Williams MP (Liberal Democrat, Ceredigion)

Mr Hywel Williams MP (Plaid Cymru, Caernarfon)

Jessica Morden MP was a Member of the Committee during the inguiry,

Powers

The committee is one of the Departmental select committees, the powers of
which are set out in House of Commons Standing Orders, principally in 50 No
152, These are available on the Intemet via www.pariiament.uk.

Publications

The reports and evidence of the Committee are published by The Statianery
Gffice by Order of the Housa, All publications of the Committee {including press
noticas) are on the internet at .

wwaw.parliament uk/pariamentary_committeesiwelsh_affairs_committee.cfm. A
list of reports of the Committee in the present Parliament is at the back of this
volume,

Committee staff

The current staff of the Committee is Nick Wright (Clerk), Llinas Madeley
(Committee Specialist), Christine Randall {Cammitee Assistant), Annabel
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South Wzles has a viable coal resource used by existing power and steel plants,
Deep and short sea port facilities allow companies to bafance the supply equation.

Support of mdigenous surface 2nd underground coal production minimises the exposure to international
factors restricting the supply of imported fuels,

Government and Asserably suppart has helped to maintain the coal mining sector with the potential to
exploit indigenous coal reserves in South Wales.

RECCAIMENDATIONS

Due to EU dictales it is difficult for the Welsh Assembly to get involved in any direct subsidy scheme but
it is hoped this will continue fram central government and 1he EU,

Over recent years mine closures have decimated communities where generations of families would work
“down the pit". However the ageing population of the remaining worklorce is creating a dearth of people
with the required skills to immediately take up employment underground and on the surface even in the
modern environment mining now operates,

Training for all type of skills which can also be used in alternate industries needs to be addressed in centres
linked to the industry,

Detziled analysis of the logistics required to support the development of mining operations needs to be
implemented with views en how this can be developed with minimal social disturbaree,

OnsERVATIONS

On a broader note Wales can offer the environment for the development of aliernaie technologies due re
geographical location and type of terrzin,

Seven: Barrage type developments are probably the uitimate but elevates debate 1o levels only secn by the
nuclear lobby.

Wind power via the grid is expensive even without transmission Josses taken into account but direct
conngclion to a consumer synchronised with alternative power sources can be effective especiallyin outlying
arcas, Geothermal, solar and hydre paralle] power sources could even result in carbon neutral generation
z0nes.

Combined heat and power plants could be a reality alongside major industrial plants but would require
heat transfer infrastructure which is not common to this country.

Lastly they all require financial incentive the same as main stream generation to secure a “lights on”
guarantes for the future,

11 January 2087

Memorandum submitted by Miller Argent

I. PERSONAL [NTRGDUCTION

1.1 My rame is James Thomas Poyner; [ am a dicector of a number of mining and associated companies
within The Miller Group Limited.

1.2 [am also 4 director of “Miller Argant (South Wales) Limited” which is a Joint Venture Company
between: The Miller Group Limited, Argent Group ple 2nd Mr Bemard J Llewellyn, This company was
specifically set up to casry out the Ffos-y-fran Land Reclamation Scheme in Merthyr Tydfil, South Wales.
This sehemte represents the largest authorised coal mining reserve in Soath Walcs.

1.3 T have specific sesponsibility for alt mining matiers of The Miller Group Limited and together with
my co-directors | have responsibility for the management of Milter Argent (South Weles) Lintited.

1.4 T have aver 40 years experience #n (e Building, Civil Engineering and Opencast Coal Mining
Industrics. My experience and expertise covers the planning, operation and management of large-scale
building, civil enginecring, opencast mining and land reclamation prajects.
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2. Company INTRODUCTION

2.1 Miller Argent (South Wales) Limited, (Miller Argent), is the General Partner company of the Flos-
y-fran Limited Partnership and is owned by the follewing three companies;

2.1.1 The Miller Group Limited; the UK’s largest privately owned Housebuilding, Property
Development and Construction business, The Milfer Group has over 60 years experience in
working large-scale land reclamation and opencast coal miniag projects in the UK and
overseas, The mining division of the Miller Group was Lhe first company in the world to
receive BSI Third Party accreditation to BS 5750 for the design, management and operation
of opencast coal sites. The Miller Group has an annual tumover in excess of 21,2 billion and
has net assets in excess of £250 million,

2.2 Argent Group PLC; a successful London based Property Development Company with
uarivalled expertise in large-scale urban regeneration projects throughout the UK, Argent
Group PLC has ner assets ir excess of £140 million and is a wholly owned schsidiary of
British Telecom Pension Scheme, with net assets in excess of £25 biliton; and

2.1.3 Cwmbargoed Mining Limited, a privately owned local company represerting the interests
of the Llewellyn family who have been involved in coal miring in South Wales for a
hundred yegrs,

2.2 The company Miller Argent has been spxcilically set up to work the Ffos-y-Iran Land Reclamation
Scheme. The partners of the company have been actively iavolved in this projegt since the time of the
privatisation of Brilish Coal and have already spent many mitlions of pounds in taking the praject forward
to where it is today.

2.3 The Ffos-y-Iran Land Reclamation Scheme is in effect the finessing of the third phase of the East
Merthyr Land Reclamation Scheme, which has been promoted by the local zuthority since its congeption
in [983. The scheme provides for the reclamation of over 1,000 acres of acutely derelict and unsafe [and.
The reclamation scheme is paid for eatirely by the recovery of the underlying coal, which is to be extracted
by opencast methads. No monies will be used from the public purse. '

2.4 Miller Argent (South Wales) Limited has BS EN 150 9601:2000 ncereditation for the design,
management and operation of opencast mining sites,

3. ScoPE oF EVIDENCE

3. Thavebeen requested to givecvidence to the Welsh Aflairs Select Committee on the subject of Energy
in Wales in general and Opencast Coal in particutar and [ am pleased 10 have been given that opportunity.

3.2 The purpose of my evidence is to provide the Welsh Affairs Select Committee, and other interested
parties, with a clear sxplanation of (i) the workings of 1he Opencast Coak Industry, (i) the methodologies
employed, and (i} the industry view on the cnergy sitoation, in an attempl (o assist in the general
understanding of the contribution the Industry has and continues o make in terms of the UK plc’s energy
porifolio.

1.3 T have to stress [rom the outset that zlthough [ am: obviously pro coal I am not against other sources
of fuel from which electricity can be produced and industry ¢can be serviced. In fact [ wholeheartedly support
# balanced, mixed energy portiofio,

3.4 Lalsodo notdeny ke fact that global warming and chimate changeis a reality #nd that mankind must
introduce new measuzes (o combat the effects of the industrialised world.

1.5 However, [anconcerned thar there s a great deal of mistunderstanding in the public domain and tliat
Lhere s 2 danger that decisions germane te Lhe production of elcclriciy in the UK may be made that ure not
necessarily in the best interests of the people of the UK.

3.6 Climale charge and globzl warming are linked and constitute a very complex and involved structure,
It is [ar too ¢asy to biame the burning of fossil luels and (o concentrate offorts on legislating against fossil
fuels believing that that will solve the problem-—it will not.

3.7 The prime reason For mankind's contribution to climale change is attributable 10 POPULTION
ENCREASE and consequential POVERTY. The world's populatior is expected o rise from the current 6.5
biltien to 9.1 billien by 2050.
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3.8 The population in the UK has broken the 60 million barrier and &s expected o tise to ¢ 68 millian
by 2030.

UK POPULATION (ESTIMATED)
Population (millions)
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Sounree; Office for National Statistics
3.9 “Global econemic growth, the primary d river of energy demand, is conservatively forecast Lo average

3.2% per annum between 2002 and 2030. Population growth will continue, with tlic world population
expected to reach over 8 billion by 2030, Irom its current level of 6.4 billion,

Fossil fuels will continue 10 dominate encrey consuraption—accounting for around 5% of the increasc
i warld primary encrgy demand aver the nex( 30 years.

The lorecast growth in demand will not alleviate the major conceens around energy poverty, In 2000 only
one in six people worldwide had the access 16 energy required 1o provide the high living standards enjoyed
in the developed world. These one billion people consumed over 50% of the world’s energy supply, while
the one billion poorest used only 4%,

Energy is essential to poverty alleviation. All fuel sources will be needed—but as the most abundant and
affordable of all the fossil fuels, the rale of coal will be vital,

The world currently relics on coaf for 40% ol its clectricity and 663 of stee) production is dependent on
caal™. [World Coal [nstituic)
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3.10 According to the [nternational Energy Agency (IEA), there are cutrently 1.6 billien people (25% of
the glabal population) without 2ny access Lo clectricity. The IEA state that without global radical new
policies, 1.4 billion peeple will still lack access to electricity in 30 years time.

4. THE OPENCAST CoaL INDUSTRY N ToiE UK

4.1 Coathas been extracted by opencast methods as far back as the bronze age and many records exist
of voal being recovered in eatly Romar times, when coal was extracted where it cutcropped on hilt sides.

4.2 The UK Opencast Coal [ndustry was formalized in 1942 when the then Ministry of Fuel and Power
Invited a select group of Civil Engineering Contractors to recover coal by apericast methods as s wartime
expedient. In Decernber 1942 responsibility for opencast work carried out by civil engineering contractors
shifted to a newly formed Directorate of Opencast Coal Production (DOCP) ~ within the Ministry of Works
and Planning, acting as agent for the Ministry of Fugl and Power which purchased and disposed ol autput.
The industey in the UK has conlinued ever since, making a very valuable and significant vontribution to the
UK ccoromy,

4.3 The Coal Industry was nalionalized in 1947 and the Naticnal Coal Board (NCB) was formed. The
NCB was spli1 inte two working sections: Deep Mines and Opencast. The opencast was ran by the NCB
Opencast Executive. .

4.4 A subtle and sigoificant difference between Deep Mines and Opencast is that the NCB never mined
a single ton of opencast coal themselves, The works were always put out to terder and were always mined
by the successful Contractor to a site specific tender.

4.5 However the NCB, who later traded as British Coal (1987), retained the skills and respensibility for:
(a) the national identification and assessment of coal reserves inctuding exploration; (b) land management
and acquisition; () planning applications; (d) project management of the extraction contracts; and {e) the
sale and distribution of the coal,

4.6 Coals recovered by opencast were often blended with deep mined coulin order o improve the quality
of the deep mined coal. It is possible 1o recaver coal by opencast methads more cleanly than by deep mine
methods,

4.7 Opencast coal schemes were often usud to bring about reclamation of brown field sites, often a legacy
of previous deep mine or industrial activity,

4.8 Brilish Coal was privatized at the end of [994 and the industry became a rumber of smaller private
entitizs, The three successor companies to Brilish Coal acted independently and in fact in competition with
cach other. Asa result the industry no longer had a national strategy and became fragmented and of reduced
substlance (in relative terms).

4.9 The successor companics to British Coal no longer let out opencast coaling contracts to other
coatractors, preferring tosell mine, This has resulted in many fims exiting the industry as contractars, wilk
anly a few of them branching out inlo private apencast mining in Lheir own right.

5. GRrArHs RELATING TO CoAL PRODUCTION AND SUPPELY IN TIiE UK
5.1 Tetal tonnage of coal consumed in the UK:

Total Coal (Indigenous & Imported) in UK
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5.2 Graph showing relationship with UK deep mined, opencast and imported coal:
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3 Graph showing coal production in Wales;

Coal Production in Wales
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3.4 Coal Production in the UK from 1700 to 2006:
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6, Tug Issuss ror THE UK Opencast Coat, [Npustay

6.1 In my opinion the issues facing the UK are actually very straight forward and are sct around the
Government's four long term goals:

6,41 to put the UK on a path to cut our carbon diexide emissions by some 60% by about 2050,
with real progress by 2026;

6.1.2 1o maintain reliabk energy supplics;

6.1.3 to premote competitive markets ity the UK and beyond, helping to raise the rate of
suslainable economic growth and fo Improve preductivity: and

6.1.4 1o ensure that every home is adequately and affordably heated.
6.2 T unequivacally support all of the above menlioned goals.

6.3 Whatever decisions are taken now by Government with regard to future electricity pencration they
will by nccessity take Lime (o deliver, cg it will take approximately 12 years to bring a nuclear pawer station
into preduction [rom the day it is decided to ge ahead with a scheme. ln many ways there is valid criticism
lhat the UK is lar 100 alc in addressing its cnesgy problems.

6.4 Therefore the second goul of Government—*To maintain reliable energy suppliss™ [§ 5.1.2] is
paramount. This is made even mere seasitive having in mind the absolute need to replace the ageing feet
of aur power stations and to provide for the increase in demand for electricity.

6.5 Whether we like it or not, the UK relies on conl for a third of its electricily, in fact over the winter
months it relies on coal for half' its eteetricity, This reliance will not change ir the short Lo medium term.

6.6 “Coalis the fastest growing energy source in the world, with coal use increasing by 25% for the three
year peried ending in December 2004” [BP Stavistical Encrgy Review, Junc 2005). Coai is the preferred
source of fuel for the gencration of efecteieizy threughout the wesld and its use is set to further increase
dramatically, More coal i being consumed today than az any other time in history. Unless and until
allernatives are in place coal will continug to be used in the UK otherwise the fights will go out and our
cconomy will crash. .

6.7 Thedecision Government has to make is what proportion of the coal the UK consumes will be indigenous.

6.8 [tisalready too e to argue 1hat indigerous coal can provide our full needs—regrettably it cannot.
However, the UK Coal Industry can make a significant contribution to our needs—somewhere between a
third and a half of all coals consumed could be supplied by the UK Coal Industry. It simply does ot make
sensenat to do so, If the UK Coal Industry was allowed to die then ali we would be doing would be te import
1he coal from elsewhere in the world, which would result in exportiag both the jobs and the envirenmentai
problems. The carben footprint would be preater because by necessity we would he transporting coal
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unnecessarily around the world. This would be in direct contradiction 1o the statenient included in*Minerals
Policy Statement 1: Planning and Minerals™ as published in November 2006 by the Department for
Communitics and Local Government, wherein at page 9, item 15, second bullet point, it stales:

“2im to source mineral supplies indigenously. to aveid exporting potential environmenial damage,

whilst recognising the primary role that market conditions play;”

[My emphasis added]

6.9 In the November/December 2006 issue of “The Monitor—Blue Skies Supplement™, it is staled:
“There are however, bwo fundamental impediments that need 1o be addressed if the UK, is to
maintain its level of indigenous coal production. The country needs 2 commercial regime that
atiracls investment ta access deep mine reserves, and an utgent need to change the present
planming regime that diseriminates sgainst surface mining”.

"The presumplion against opencast mining, contained within the guidance to planning authorities,

has resulted in a significant slump in consents for replacement sites and the foss of outputs and

Jobs, As 1 consequence, coal imports lave soased, often from surface-mine praduction in countries
with far less exacling environmental constrainis and health and safety considerations than those
imposed on UK producers”.

“UK coal prodocers believe the annual production of around 20 million temmes of coal is

sustainable for the foreseeable future, and should become a cornerstone of the government’s

energy policy™.

[ entirely agree with these staternents.

6.10 “In 1996t was estimated that 1here was around one exagram (| x 10%%kg or 1 trillion tonnes) of total
global cosl reserves accessible using current mining teclnolegy. . . . In theory there is enough coal to [ast
for 300 years ., " hased on present day consumption.

6.11 It is assessed that there is still 190 billion tonnes of coal within the UK. OF that quantity
approximately 1 billion tonnes is accessible and cconomicully extractable based on current prices and
technology.

6.12 The UK cannot solve the world's problems but it ¢an show initiative and leadership by example.
Gilobaily coal is here and is here Lo stay. The world’s ceal industries and governments should work together
to continue to improve coal’s cnvironmental performunce by ensuring that coal is produced and used
elficiently and that the technological advancements are fully and vigorously pursued.

6.13 There are three cssential core elements common to ali users of coal throughout the world;

6.13.1 Reduction of pellutant cmissions such as particulate matter and oxides of sulpbur and
nitrogen (S0 and NOx) 10 near zero levels. This has largely been achieved and is now “ofT
the shelf technology™.

6.13.2 Increasing thermal clicieney to reduce CO» and other cmissions per unit of electricity
generated. Major gains have already been achicved and fucther potential ean be realised.

6.13.3 Reducing CO; cmissions to near zero levels. The development of near zcro emission
technologies has comnienced and Is accelerating rapidly. The UK must play its part.

7. Coat v WaLEs

7.1 There are two coal fired power statiens in Wales: Uskmouth and Aberthaw. Combined they have the
ability 1o burn ¢ 4 million tonnes of coal per year.

7.2 Aberihaw Power Stalion was specifically built to burn Welsh Dry Steam Coal. It is the ONLY coal
fired power station in the UK designed to bum low to mid volatile coal. There is ONLY the Sowh Wales
Coal Field in the UK that can supply coal of the correct specification that can be burat satisfactorily without
considerable blending st Aberthaw Power Stalion. Compliant coal for Aberthaw power station is not
readily available throughout the world and currently RWE (the ewners of Abetthaw Power Station) obtain
maost of their imported coal for this pawer siation from Russia. Mr Putin has already made his intentions
known with regard 1o his aspirations for control of energy sources,

7.3 The South Wales Opencast Coal Industry has the ability to supply up to 50% of Scuth Wales's
requirement [or coal for the foreseeable future, subject to planning,

7.4 The unanswered question is how muck coal there is remaining in Seuth Wales, Coal is an asset of the
UK; it belongs 1o thecouniry and it is regrettable that government has not quantified, with somecommercial
accuracy, the amount of coal that is economically viable and accessible.

7.5 In very general terms, based on cuzrent pricing and current wechaology, it is estimated that there is
approximately 1 billion tonnes of economically viable and aceessible coal reserves remaining in the UK. OF
that tonanage approximately 400 million tonnes is deep mine coal and 600 million tonne is opencast. It is
estimated that 20% of the potential for opencast is to be found in South Walcs.

7.6 [n terms of my company's contribution, the fellewing graph details cur anticipated coal production
in South Wales as at today’s date.
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Miller Argent's Anticipated Coal Output
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7.7 The planning policy for coal recovery in Wales is basically covered under the general Minerals
Planning Policy. There is no specific guidance [or coal other than a DRAFT Mincrals Planning Policy
Technical Advice Note on Coal that was issued as a consualtation document in January 2006, Miller Argent
{South Wales) Limited participated in that consultation process and a copy of its response is attached to
this document, as is its response to the Energy Review consultation “Our Encrgy Chaflenge™.

7.8 The National Assembly has yel to issueits findings on the Coal TAN despite enormous pressure from
all sides,

8. EuropeaN CoMMISSION To BACK DEVELOPMENT OF CLEAN COAL TECHNOLOGHES. . . [Newsbriclissuc 81—
10 January 2007]

8.1 The European Commission wants to see up to 12 large-scale demonstrations of sustainable fossil fuel
technologies in commercial power gencration by member States by 2015,

8.2 In 2 communication issued in January 2007 as part of its Energy Policy for Europe, the £C said the
new policy would enable cozl to maintain its important contribution to “secure and competitive energy
supplies for Europe™.

8.3 The January 2007 policy communication states: “Coal aml gas account for over 50% of the EU's
clectricity suppty and will remain an important part of our encegy mix, I the EU is te achieve its long terny
climate change objectives, much cleaner coal technologies and a significant reductien of COz emission will
be necessary. Furthermore, devefoping clean coal and carbon caplure and storage technologics is crucial at
the international level; it is expected that (wice as much eleciricity as today will be produced world-wide from
cou} by 2030, This will in turn bring new opportunities for European export as well.

%4 “In order to make sustainabie fossil fucls a reality alter 2020, the EU muost establish a favourable
regulatory framework for the development of these novel technologies, invest more, and more efficiently,
into rescarch, as well as take international action, The EU Emission Trading Scheme will alse need to
incorporate capiure and storage in the future”.

8.5 The conxmunication states that in 2007, the Commission will start work 1o;

8.5.1 design a micchanism to stimulate the construction and eperation by 2015 of up to 12 large-
scale demonstrations of sustainable fossil fuel technologies i commerciul power generation
in the EU; and

8.5.2 provide a clear perspeetive when coal and gas fired power plants will need 1o install COz
capture and storage. Teday, the Commmission believes that by 2020 ail new coal-fired plants
should include CO2 capture and storage technologies and existing plants should then
pragressively follow 1he same approach.

§.6 Adds the statement: “Fossil fugls represent an impoctant element of the energy mix of the European
Union as well asin many ¢iher economies. Coal is raditionally the key fossil fuel in power generation and
by far the mostcarbon-intensive one. Coal can contribute to the security of energy supply and the cconomy
of the EU and the world only with technologies allowing for a drastic reduclion of iis hagmful
cnvironmentai sifects,”
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8.7 “Clean Coal technologies, which increase efficiency and reduce polluting emissions, are widely used
in the power gensralion sector of the most advanced countrics loday. Further progress towards novel
technological solutions, which afso incorporate the concepls of CO2 capture and storage io coal-based
power generation, is anticipated by 2020 so that after 2020, ‘near 2ere emission’ power generalion can be
systematically used in the EU and ia the world™.

8.8 Itisiessentizl that the UK plays it part in this initiative.

9. Twe Issues For THE UK ENERGY INDUSTRY

9,1 The biggest problem the UK Energy Industry laces s that much ol its electricity gencrating capacity
is oo old or is ageing fast. In very broad terms we have a generation capacity of ¢. 74 GW, of which:
9.1.1 23GW is coal fired.
9.1.2 3GW is oil fired.
9.1.3 5GW is mixed or dual fired.
9.1.4 26GW is pas.
9.1.5 1GW is gas turbines and oil engines.
9.1.6 12GW is nuclear.
9,1.7 4GW is Hydro and other rencwables.

9.2 Over the next decade virtually all of the nuclear stations will be phased out, as will 2 number of the
coal fired stations, cither by age or by ability to meet new legislation.

9.3 The demand for electricity is set to rise year on year.

9.4 Piant margin {an excess of potcntial gencrating capacity over maximwm demand) is crucial to the
security of elcctricity supply, as gencrating units are not available 100% of the time due te breakdowns and
the need for maintesance and repair. It is generally agreed that a minimum plant margin of 15% should be
in place over the pezk demand during the winicr months in order to maintain a secure supply of electricity.

9,5 Security of supply of fuel source is now also a major parameter in determining the favous of Tuture
peneration plants, Diversification has got to be the order of the day and the three major reliable, proven,
means of power generation are: gas; coal; and nuclear.

9.6 Tt appears now to be accepted that it would be folly to rely on gas for 80% of our future generation
capacily (as was suggested earlier by Government). Given all the circumstances a dependence on gas would
Teave the UK vulnerable to infeccuptions to supply caused by: (a) poiitical, {b) terrorist action, and/or {c}
market dislocating price shocks,

2.7 Toe muchdependenee on nuclear would present an unaesepiable terrorist target and also exacerbate
1he so [ar unanswered problem of tweatment and disposal of nuckar waste.

9.8 The technology does not exist lo promate “Renewables” as being a major conlributor. This does not
mean to say thal research and development shoutd not be acceleruted, but there is nothing currently out
there that <an be relied upon as a true alternalive to what already exists.

9.9 Hydro and biomass co-firing make a worthwhile, but nevertheless smal?, coniribution to the
rencwable clement of the UK's total capabilily to generale electricity.

910 Irenvironmental terms coal is now burnt in a way which reduces its a¢id rain potential to minimal
levels, whilst the retrofitting of clean coal technologies to existing coal fired plant and the development of
Carbon Capiure and Sequestration (CCS) strategies can make coal increasingly Kyolo lriendly. Coal is
comipetitive on price, it is readily available rom at keast 70 different countsies in the world (a wide variety of
politically stakle countries). there is & ready indigenous supply. it is easy and safg to transport, store and use.

9.11 Indigenous coal can provide the electricily needed for all our emergency services, hospitals,

government ¢tc. in limes of a national emergeney without the reliance on any other couniry, should such a
situation ever exist.

19. BACKGROUND aND HIiSTORY RELATING T THE FFOS-Y-FRAN LAND RECLAMATION SCHEME

10.1 In avcordance with Glovernment policy [ollowing the Aberfan disaster, local authoritics were
required 10 underiake surveys of derelict land within their areas and adopt programmes for the progressive
reclamation of the identified derelict and/or unsafe land.

10.2 The former Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council jeined with 1 other local guthoritics under
the auspices of the Monmouthshire Derelict Land Reclamation Joint Commitlee.

10.3 The committee identified a substantial area of desclict land that subscquently formed part of Phase
11T of the East Merthyr Land Recfamation Scheme (EMRS),
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10.4 Fhe Ffos-y-fran Land Reclamation Scheme encompasses the third Phase of the East Merthyr Land
Reclamation Scheme. The essence of the Scheme is to reclaim approximately 4006 hectares of land, 317
hectares of which are classed as derelict land (with inherent dangers) and o restore it to safe and beneficial
use. The Snancial means and process of achieving this reclamation is by the incorporation of the extraction
of the underlying strategic coal reserve by opencast methods,

10.5 The Ffos-y-fran Land Reclamation Scheme is the largest authorised coal reserve in South Walss,
The scheme has been delayed by legel challenges which have cost many millions of pounds. Not only has
the developer been subjected 1o excessive and unforeseen costs but so have the aushorities who have had to
defend their position and also the tax payer by way of publicly funded legalzid given to the objectors,

10.6 The scheme will provide direct employment for 200 people and will secure the employment for
approximately a fusther 400 people in support occupations. Skills training will be available to afl employees
wishing 10 advance themselves, These are extremely important factors as Merthyr Tydfil has the highest rate
of unemployrment in the UK, ’

10.7 Over £80 million (at today’s value} will be paid out in wages to those dircctly employed and
stalistically every pound eamvd ina commurity is spent und spent again many limes within thatcommunity.

LE. OPENCAST SITE SAFETY, LEGISLATION AND PROCEDURES

11.1 Land reclamation and opencast coal mining sites ean be dangerous pleces to work and visit,
particularly to the uninitiaied. Therefore safety is of paramount importance specifically for (he people
employed and the gencral public affected by the operations,

11.2 The working arcas are fenced to discourage trespass and warming signs are posted and maintained
at regular intervals around the site boundary.

1.3 Allemployees undergo an induction cowrse which addresses safety and environmental issues aswell
as pompany procedures. Safety awarencss courses are held every year for the entire workforee and toolbox
talks are given at more Irequent intervals.

11.4 Risk assessments are carried out on all site aperations and are eflactively communicated fo all those
involved. All drivers are individually tested before being authorised to drive any item of plaat on site, Site
licences are issued authorising drivers to operate the items of plant for which they have been satisfctory
tested.

11,5 Bach operating campany has: (i} a Safety Management Procedures Manual, (i) a Plant Procedures
Manual, and (jiiya General Management Procedures Manual, ali ol which will e effectively communisated,
implemented, audited and controlled.

11.6 Under the Quarries Regulations 1999 it is the duty of the operator to be able to demonstrate that
sufficient competent persons are employed to eperate the opencast site and that everyone who works at the
site is competent 1o do the job they do. unless it is someone undergoing training and under the direct
supervision and control of a competent person. :

11.7 The philosophy of continucus improvement and lifelong learning is encouraged within the industry
and every opportunity is given to those employees wishing to develep new skills and advance themselves in
the workplace. '

11.8 There is considerable legislation gaverning the works to be carried out on site including but not
Timited to: Health and Safety al Work Act 1974, Regulations Made Under HSWA and Supply of Muchinery
Regulutions, Management of Health and Safety at Work (MHSW) Regulations 1999,Provision and Use of’
Work Equipment Regulations 1998, Werkplace (Health, Safety and Welfure) Regulations 1992, Manual
Handling Operations Regulations 1992, Personal Prolective Equipment at Work Regulations 1992, Health
and Safety (Display Screen Equipment) Regulations 1992, The Supply of Machinery (Safety) Regulations
1992, Control of Substances Hazardous to Health (COSHH) Regulations 1999, Quarries Regulations 1999,
The Moise at Work Repufations 1989, The Eleculcity at Work Regulations 1989, Confined Spaces
repulations 1947, Borehole Sites and Operations Regulations 1995, Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and
Dangerous Ovcurrences Regulations 1995 (RIDDOR), The Health and Safety {First Aid) Regalations 1981,
The Health and Safety (Salcty Signs and Signals) Regulations 1996, Safety Representatives and Salety
Committees Regulations 1977, Construction {Design and Management) Regulations 1994, The Ammonium
Nitrate Mixtures Exemption Order 19567, Pressure Systems Safely Regulations 2000, The Control of
Explosives Regulations 1991 etc.

11.9 The UK Opencast Coal Industry has a proven track record of high health and safety standards,
James T Povner
23 Jumary 2007
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My Justice Beatson:

L.

In this renewed application for permission to judicial review the claimant,
Mrs Elizabeth Condron, sceks permission to challenge three planning
permissions granted by Caerphilly County Borough, the second defendant, and
one plaming permission granted by Merthyr County Borough, the first
defendant, to Miller Argent (South West) Limited, the developer and the
interested party in these proceedings. The permission was granted in respect
of the Cwmbargoed disposal point (“the disposal point™), a facility in Merthyr
Tydfil, occupying a site of 23.4 hectares. The disposal point was granted
planning permission in 1957 for the reception, storage, processing and
onwards fransportation of coal, extracted within the South Wales coaifield,
and has been used since then, The site straddles the areas of the two planning
authorities. 20% of the site that is 4.7 hectares is within the boundary of the
first defendant, and the remaining 80% is within the area of the second
defendant,

. The main question before the court is whether the Environmental Impact

Assessment Directive 85/33WEEC, (“the EIA Direclive”), and the
Environmental kmpact Assessment Regulations 1999, as amended, SI1999
No 193 ("The EIA Regulations™) arguably required the defendants to carry out
a screening assessment in respect of the applications. The principal, but not
the only, submission by Mr Stookes on behalf of the claimant is that the
defendants were required to carry oul such an assessment, and as they did not,
they failed to comply with the Dircctive and the Regulations, Mr Stephenson
and Mr Price-Lewis QC, on behalf of the defendants and the interested party,
submitted that the defendants were not required to carry out the screening
assessment because the applications did not fall within the provisions of the
Directive or the Regulations which require such an assessment,

. The disposal point is adjacent to, but scparate from, the site at Ffos-y-fran, at

which the interested party conducts opencast mining in relation to movement
and reclamation operations. The operations at Ffos-y-fran “have generated a
great deal of local opposition” (I quoie from Richards LI in previous
proceedings).

. At present the Land Reclamation Scheme, the third and last phase of the

East Merthyr Land Reclamation Scheme, is being undertaken. The planning
permission for the Ffos-y-fran Land Reclamation Scheme was granied by the
National Assembly after a two-week public inquiry. The application for that
permission was accompanicd by an environmental statement. There have, as I
have observed, been previous judicial review proecedings challenging the
planning decisions about the Ffos-y-fran site. In the first, brought by this
claimant, Condron v National Assembly for Wales (2006]) EWCA Civ 1573,
she unsuccessfully challenged the decision of the National Assembly for
Wales in carly 2005 to grant planning permission for the operations at that
site. In the second, a challenge by her to a decision of Merthyr Tydfil
County Borough Council in Decemnber 2007 not te take enforcement action
against the interested party, permission was refused. Pre-action protocol

letters were written on behalf of the claimant in respect of two other
complaints concerning decisions of the National Assembly but proceedings
were not instituted. The purpose of the applications for planning permission
which led to the decision now chatlenged was to cnable the interested party to
continue to use a disposal point for the duration of operations at the
Ffos-y-fran Land Reclamation Scheme.

. The defendants and the interested parties have said that they are to review the

site which had been operating for many vears since 1957. The planning
decisions now challenged are that by the first defendant, dated
3 September 2008, and those by the second defendant, two of which are dated
12 July 2007, and one of which is dated 18 June 2008.

. The two permissions dated 12 July 2007 granted permission to extend and

refurbish a existing minimum processing preparation plant and provide a water
storage tank and coal haulage vehicle workshop and ancillary facilities,
including office accommodation, staff welfare facilities and a visitor training
centre. The lorry maintenance frcilities, the offices and the new visitor centre
have, see the interested party’s evidence, been construeted. The decision by
the sccond defendant dated 18 June 2008 extended the earlier consent from
| December 2010 to 31 Decemnber 2024 so as to align it with the expected
duration of the Ffos-y-fran Reclamation Scheme. The decision dated
3 September 2008 made by first defendant was in respect of a similar
application for the 4.7 hectares within the first defendant’s administrative arca
and also provided that the consent was to expire on 31 December 2024,

. Proceedings were faunched on 28 Octeber 2608. Permission was refused on

the papers by Coliins J on 9 March this year and the claimant renewed her
application on 11 March. Tt came before me at Cardiff Civil Justice Centre on
29 April. There was an issue beiween the parties as to venue. The claimant
maintains she will not have a fair trial in Wales, that opencast mining in Wales
is highly contentious, and that she is concerned that any regional court may
not be impartial, The defendants and the interested parties wish the claim to
be heard by the Administrative Court in Wales. [ address the issue of venue
afler considering the arguability of the application on its merits.

. The permissions arc challenged on two grounds. The first is that the

defendants failed to comply with the EIA Directive and the EIA Regulations
by failing to cary out a screening assessment. The second ground of
challenge is that the two most recent decisions did not take account of another
application by the interested party to chaoge the original planning permission
of the Ffos-y-fran site to ailow some coal to be removed from the site by
truck, whereas the current condition 37 provides for the removal of coal by
train only. That application was made on 24 July 2008,

. Bvidence in support of the application was filed in the form of three witness

statements by Mr Stookes, a soliciter advocate and partner at
Richard Buxton Environmental and Public Law, Cambridge, who appeared at
the hearing before me. The first two of these sfatements arc dated
4 Deeember 2008, The first formally exhibits documents in the claim bundle,
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documents which were filed on 17 November 2008, almost 2 month after the
claim was lzunched. The second is an application for a protective costs order,
which was not pursued because public funding has been obtained since then.
The third, dated 27 April, the day before the hearing, puts before the court a
supplementary bundle of some 43 pages of additional documents.

On behalf of the defendants, evidence is served by the first defendant’s head
of town and country planning, Mr Davis, and the second defendant’s
development control manager, Mr Stephenson. Though the statements in the
court bundle arc undated, they appear to have been filed together with the
acknowledgements of service which are dated 17 November 2008,

The legislative framework

. Counsel Directive 85/337/EEC of the EIA Directive concerns “the assessment

of the cffects of certain public and private projects on the environment”.
Article 2{1) requires member states provides that:

“Member States shall adopt all measures necessary
to ensure that, before conseni is given, projects
likely to have significant effects on the environment
by virtue inter alia of their nature, size or location
arc made subject to an assessment with regard to
their effects. Those projects are defined in Article
47

Article 4{1) and (2) rcquire an assessment to be made in accordance with
Articles 5 to 10 of the Directive. In the case of Article 4(1), “for projects
listed in Annex I”, and in the case of Article 4(2), “for projects listed in Annex
II", in the latter case the Article 4(2) provides that member sfates shall
determine through a case-by-case examination or thresholds or criteria set by
the member state whether the project shall be made subject to an assessment in
accordance with Articles 5 to 10.

. Annexes ! and 2 of the Directive are in the same terms as Schedule T and 2 to

the UK’s implementing Regulations, and ¥ do not set those out.

. The 1999 Regulations have been amended since then, most recently by the

Town and Country Plaoning (Environmental Impact Assessment)
Amendment Englond Regulations (SI 2008 No 2093). Regulation 5 provides
that a person who is minded te carry out development may request a planning

authority to adopt a screening opinion and makes provisions for what must

accompany such a request, Regnlations 5(4) and 5(5) provide that an
authority shall undertake the screening opinion within three weeks of the
receipt of a request, or such longer period as agreed, and send it to the first
major request.

. Regulation 7 provides that, for certain categories of cases, paragraphs 5(3) and

5(4) shall apply as if an application was a request under Regulation 5(1) and,
in this indircet way, impose an obligation on planning authorities, cven though
a request is not made by a person who is minded to develop.

186,
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The obligation arises:

“Whete it appears to the relevant planning authority
that -~

(a) an application which is beforc them for
determination is a Schedule | application or
schedute 2 application; and

{b) the development in question --

(i) has not been the subject of a scrcening
opinion or screening direction; or

(i} in the case of a subsequent application, was
the subject of a screening opinion or
direction before planning permission was
granted to the effect that it is not EIA
development; and

{c) the application is not accompanied by a
statement referred to by the applicant as an
environmental statement for the purposes of the
Regulations.”

Schedule | and Schedule 2 applications are defined in Regulation 2, The
Interpretation Provision. That states that a Schedule 1 development means
development “of a description mentioned in Schedule 17, and a Schedule 2
development means development “of a description mentioned in column 1 of
the table in Schedule 2" where any part of the development is to be carried out
in a sensitive area or any applicable threshold, or if eriterion in the

. corresponding part of column 2 of that table is respectively exceeded or met in

relation to that devefopment. It is common ground that the area which is the
subject of these permissions is not a sensitive area,

. Schedule 2 to the Regulations describes the relevant develepments and

applicable thresholds and criteria in a tabular form. There are two calumns to
the table. The first column is under a general heading, “Description of
Development”. The second column lists the applicable thresholds and eriteria,
The main headings of the first twelve paragraphs in column {, or first twelve
sections in column L, list broad arcas of activity; thus, 1 is agriculture and
aquaculture; 2 is extracted industry; 3 is energy industry; 4 is production and
processing of medals; 5 is mineral industry; & is chemical industry, unless
included in Schedule 1; 7 is food industry; 8 textile, leatker, wood and paper
industry; 9 rubber industry; and 10 infrastructure projects. 11 is headed
“Qther Projects™ and 12 is headed “Tourism and Ecisure™. It is not suggested
that they have any application in this case.
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Paragraph 13 concerns any change to, or cxtension of, development of a
description listed in Schedule 1, and the threshold criteria in column 2 refers to
the relevant paragraph in Schedule i, one of which is quarrics and opencast
mining,

The material sections of Schedule 2 in the current application are Schedule 2,
“Extractive Industry”; section 10, Infrastructure Projects”, and section 13.
The claimant submits that the applications fell within those headings; in
particular, that they fell within 2(c), “Surfece industrial installations for the
extraction of coal, petroleum, natural gas and ores, as well as bituminous
shale™, where the threshold is a development area exceeding 0.5 hectarc.
Secondly, it is submitted that they fell within section 0(b):

“Urban  development project, including the
construetion of shopping centres and car parks,
sports stadiums, leisurc centres and mmitiplex
cinemas”

-- where the threshold is also an area exceeding half a hectare. Thirdly, it is
submitted by Mr Stookes that they feil within scction 13 as a change to, or an
extension of, development listed in Schedule 1, and that is opencast mining at
the Ffos-y-fran site.

. The European Commission has given guidance on EIA screening, dated

June 2001. Section B3 of the guidance concerns the steps in screening. The
first step, sct out in B3.1, is whether the project is an Annex I or an Annex Ii
project. It is stated “the first step in screening is to determine whether the
project 35 listed in cither Annex 1 or Annex II" of the Direclive or any
equivalent member state lists, This paragraph also states, “In summary, if a
project is not of a type listed in Annex [ or Il or any equivalent Member State
lists, EIA is not required unless a Habitas Directive asscssment is required”,
which, as I have said, is not the case in this case.

If a project is an Annex I or Annex IT project, the next step is whether the
project is of a mandatory list requiring ETA; the third step is whether the
project is on an exclusion list excmpting it from EIA; and the fourth step is a
casc by case consideration as to whether the project is likefy io have
significant effects on the environment.

The puidance has a tabular representation of the steps to be taken by those
considering whether an EIA assessment is needed. There is a series of
questions and arows pointing down the “yes” or “n0” columns. Broadly
speaking, step 1 asks whether the project is in a category listed in Annex I or
2. If the answer is “no™ the figure requires to consider the question whether
the project is likely to have a significant effect on MNatura 2000 site. If the
answer to that is “no” the figure says EIA is not required.

Tn the way that is inereasingly common in all sorts of documentation, as well
as having it verbally and in a diagrammatic way, the process is summarised in

25.

the box before B3. Mr Stockes places some reliance on the wording of that; in
particular that:

“If an application for development consent for an
Annex T project is made without the environmental
information required by the Directive, the authority
must require the EIA procedure to be completed™

If an Annex If application is required without the environmental information,
the autherity must consider the nced for EIA, recall the screening decision and
reasons for it, and make it available to the public.

The claimant’s grounds

The claimant’s case is that it is arguable that applications which are challenged
fell within Regulation 7, and that, in failing to undertake 2 screening process
ar to carry out a screening assessment, the defendants erred in law. Although
all that the claimants have to show at this stage is that it is arguable
Mr Stookes in fact considered that this would be a strong case. He submitted
there was a clear error. Indeed, when the claimants originally filed their claim,
they did so without a detailed statement of the facts and grounds and invited
the defendants to consent to judgment. Mr Stookes relied on statements of the
European Court of Justice in a number of cascs that the scope of the Directive
is very wide, and on the obligation to give a broad interpretation to the
provisions of the Directive. He relied in particular on the decision in
Ecologistas en Accion v Madrid [2008] C-142/07 and on the statement of the
court in Commission v Ttaly C-87/02. In parapraph 28 of its judgment in
Ecologistas the court stated, citing a number of other cases, thai the scope of
Directive 85/337 is “very wide”. That case concerned whether the Madrid
ring road fell within the definitions which required an assessment. The court
said that it would be:

“contrary to the very purpose of the amended
directive 1o allow any urban road project to fall
outside its scopc solely on the ground that the
dircctive does not expressly mention among the
projects listed in Annexes I and II those concerning
that kind of read.”

In Commission v taly the statement that:

“no project likely to have significant effects on the
environment should be exempt from assessment
"unless the specific project excluded could, on the
basts of a comprehensive asscssment, be regarded
as not being likely to have such effects™

was relied on,  As I have observed, Mr Stookes also rclied on the
European Commission’s guidance on screening to which T have referred.
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Tuming to the individual paragraphs, Mr Stookes submifs that these
applications fall within paragraphs 2(e), 10{(b) and i3 of Schedule 2 and
Annex H. As far as paragraph 2(e) of Schedule 2 is congerned, he submits that
the word “for” cleatly, or at least arguably, means “relating to™, rather than the
narrower “for the use of”. He relies on the authorities stating that the
provisions of the Directive, and thus of the implementing Regulations, should
be construed broadly, and submits that 2(e} includes buildings used “in
relation to™ the extraction of coal. ‘

. Paragraph 12(a) of Mr Stookes” skeleton argument states:

“Applying the wide scope and broad purpose
required by the ECY in Ecologistas it would be
astonishing to exclude the Cwmbargoed project.
Morcover, the narrow interpretation of para 2(e)
alleged by the opposing parties would be unduly
restrictive for a number of other projects. It would,
for instance, exclude all underground aspects of
deepshaft coal mining for which eavironmental
impacts are likely to be signiftcant™

Mr Stookes submits that the applications and the projects also fall within
paragraph 10{b) of Schedule 2 and Annex I as “urban development projects”™.
He relied on the decision of the Courtof Appeal in R {(Goodman) v
Londen Borough of Lewisham and Big Yellow Property Company [2003]
EWCA Civ 140 and other cases. He alse relied on page 9 of the
European Commission’s guidance in the instruction section in which examples
are given illustrating how to use the checklist in deciding whether EIA is
required. He relied on the project description given in the example which is
the development of 500,000 homes adjacent to an existing rural settfement
because the answer to the questions in the checklist are that an EIA is required
in such a ease, As far as paragraph 13 of the Schedule is concerned, he
submits that the project may be regarded as an extension to the main opencast
operations. In the case of quarries and opencast mining Schedule 2 points to
paragraph 2A of Schedule [. That paragraph includes all development except
the construction of building er other ancillary structures where the floor space
does not exceed 1,000 square mcires, a threshold exceeded in present
applications by a considerable margin.

Arguability

Collins J only had the benefit of Mr Stookes’ original submission and the
cvidence in his written statement. In paragraph 4 of the observations he gave
when refusing permission he stated:

“The attempt to rely on the wide purpose of the E{A
Directive to show that the developments permitted
were within Schedule 2 is without tmetit. The
opencast mining was dealt with through an enquiry
and a fall EIA as it fell within 2(c}. The DP (which
has been doing the same for previous coal mines in

30.
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Wales as it now docs for Ffos-y-fran) cannot by any
siretch of the schedule be within 2(e). To regard it
as within 10(b) is an unjustifizble extension of the
purpose of that and, since it does not itself fall
within Schedule 2, and extension or modification
cqually cannod fall within it.”

The grounds for renewing the application essentially repeat what was in the
claim form. Mr Stockes submitted that Coilins J simply crred. Paragraph 6 of
his skeleton argument describes the defendants” failure as stark. I have,
however, concluded that Collins I's succinet observations did not ert, and that
the claimant has not shown an arguable case that the defendants’ decisions
were flawed in Taw because they did not undertake a screening assessment.

. First, the requirement to carry out a scrcening asscssment only arises under

Article 4 of the Dircetive for the projects listed in annex | and annex 2, that is,
the projects of a description mentioned in Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 of the
UK Regulations. Secondly, the projects so listed should be construed in the
broad way stated in the varicus decisions of the European Court of Justice, but
the teleological or purpose of approach required, when construing Directives
and indeed secondary national legislation implementing directives, does not
require individual passages to be construed regardiess of context.

Thirdly, the decision in R (Goodman v London Borough of Lewisham and
Big Yellow Property Company dees not suppori the submissions made on
behalf of the claimant. [n that case the Court of Appeal held that Lewisham
misconstrued the 1999 Regulations. BuxtonLlJ, at paragraph 7 of his
judgment, stated that the first question for a planning authority is to delermine
whether the application is a Schedule 2 application, that is “whether the
development falls within the descriptions and limits set out in Schedule 2™

The position would be similar in respect of Schedule | but Buxton LT was not
concerned with that, Neitheram [,

The defendants and the interested party accept that if the applications fall
within the description or limits set out in Schedule 2, the failure of the
defendants to take the preliminary decision to conduct a screening process, or
alternatively their decision not 1o comduct such a process because they
cousider that it is not required, is susceptible to judicial revicw. At this stage
both Mr Stephenson and Mr Price-Lewis aceepted that the question is only
whether that is arguably so. [n other words the defendants take the risk of
error if they decide not to conduct a screening process in respect of a matter
fatting within the Schedule. If, subject to one qualification, it is required as
Buxton LJ stated in paragraph & of his judgment, that is wrong as 2 matter of
law. The court must coreect the error, and, “in determining the meaning of the
statutory expressions, the concept of reasonable judgement as embodied in
Wednesbury simply has ao part o play.”
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The qualification, however, is that identified most clearly in the speech of
Lord Mustill in R_v Monopolies and Merger Commissions, ¢x parte South
Yorkshire Transport [1993] | WLR 23 at 32. His Lordship recognised that
where an authority misconsirued or misunderstood a statutory expression, the
court must correct it because it is an error of law, and not a matter of
discretion. But his Lordship Lord Mustill alse recognised that where the
statutory expression is imprecise, even in respect of what is formally an error
of law, “the court is entitled to substitute its own opinion for that of the persan
to whom the decision has been entrusted only if the decision is so aberrant that
it cannot be classed as rational”

In the Big Yellow Property Company case (see paragraph 14) the conclusion
by Lewisham that a “storage and distribution facility” was not an wrban
development project within section 10(b) of Schedule 2 because it didn’t give
rise fo a significant impact on the cnvironment was outside the range of
reasonable responses.  Buxton LT said that was so in the light of the wide
range of examples given in paragraph 10(b).

The cases relied on by the claimant are all cases in which, applying the broad
approach that court lays down, the European Court of Justice concluded that
the project was one of those listed in the annexes. In Ecologistas this was, as T
have stated, the refurbishment and improvement of the Madrid Urban ring
road, The relevant authority had argued that there was no express reference to
an urban road in the annexes. They mentioned only “motorways, express

roads and roads”, they did not mention “urban roads”, The court concluded -

that it was contrary to the purpose of the Directive to allow a project 1o fall
outside it solely on the ground that the Directive did not cxpressly mention it.
It accepted that the types of road mentioned were roads that were located in
both urban built-up and outside built-up areas (see paragraph 29), and it
conciuded that the term “express roads” covered urban roads which had the
characteristics set out in the annex, scc paragraph 31. Those characteristics
were access only for interchanges and prohibition on and parking on
carriageways.

In Paul Abrabam v Region Wailone [2008] C-2/07, a judgment dated 28
September 2008, the ECJ considered whether an cxtension of the
Liége-Bierset Airport runway fell within the annex. The annex referred to
construction of airports with specified runway lengths, and it was argued by
the Region that no assessment was required because the annex did not include
airports as such. The court held that what had occurred fell within the term
“construction of airports”. In this case no coal is extracted on the site of the
disposal point. It is, as I have described earlier, just that: a disposal poiot. The
disposal point was an cxisting facility for storing, processing and transporting
coal elsewhere, anywhere in the South Wales minefield. Although, given the
contraction of mining in Sonth Wales, an increased proportion came from
Ffos-y-fran, the coal taken te the disposal point does not exclusively come
from there. The disposal point has existed and functioned for this purpose
since 1957, that is, it has functioned for many years beforc the current
operations at Ffos-y-Fran started in 2007,

39.
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The 0.5 heetare threshold is clearly exceeded, but it is not arguable that the
activities fafl within Section 2 as “extractive industry”.  This is because I
accept the submission that the word “for” in 2(e} does not mean “in relation
to”, Ifit did it could apply to coal brought from far away and cven, although
the lecal conditions would not permit that, from abroad. In the context of
Schedule 2, paragraph 2(¢) relates to buildings and plants used for and an
essential part of mining development referred to in previous sub-paragraphs.
As far as section 10(b) is concerned, I do not consider it arguable that this
applies. The disposal point is not in an urban area. The examples given in
paragraph 10(b) arc of prejects — shopping centres, car parks, sports stadiums,
leisure centres and multiplex cinemas -- which atiract large numbers of
visitars. Although there is a visitor centre within the current permissions and
thus there are some visitors to the disposal point, the project has not invelved
either an urban area or urhanising an arca that was previously rural, as was the
case in the example given in the European Commission’s guidance.

As far as paragraph 13 is concerned, Mr Stookes correctly points out that
Collins I’s statement, that since the application does not itself fall within
Schedule 2 any extension modification cannot fall within it, does not appear to
attract the words of Section 13(a), which refers to a development of a
description listed in Schedule I But the development relied on by the
claimants is the Ffos-y-fran opencast coal mining project. That is on a
scparate site, albeit geographically closc to the disposal point.  The
applications do not involve any change in that development. The disposal
point operates in relation to other coal fields as well, and the effect of this
application does not facilitate incrcased extraction from Ffos.y-fran. There is a
link between Mr Stookes” submission on paragraph 13 and ground 2 to which
I will return. This is because the claimant is relying on the fact that, in what is
deseribed as the planning application title (but in fact the page reference is a
reference {0 the officer’s report), there is a reference to “related™ operations at
Fios-y-fran. I return to this aspeet when considering ground 2. However, on
ground 1 I do not consider that the defendants” decisions that the application
did not require EIA are arguably flawed because the applications arguably fell
within the three paragraphs which 1 have discussed.

. I reach this conclusion without getting to what might be thought to be the

sccond stage of the inquiry, that is, the approach of Lord Mustill in the
South Yorkshire Transport case. Howcver, lest I am wrong in my assessment
of what is arguably within ihe three paragraphs, I have also considered
whether the conclusion that the applications were outside the scope of the
obiigation to have an EIA was arguably so bad that it could not be classcd as
rational and concluded it was not.

There is a tension between the submiissions of the defendanis and the
interested parties, that on the one hand the provisions of Schedule 2 are so
clear that the court can conclude that the defendants made no error of law, and
what might be a fall back position perhaps cmphasised more by the interested
party than by the defendants that insofar as the terms are precise, the court can
safely conclude that the decisions were arguably out with the range of
conclusions open to a ratioral decision maker.
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I turn to the second ground. It is submitted on behalf of the claimant that the
defendants have failed te consider the cumulative effect of the project and the
proposed variation of condition 37 of the opencast permission in the
application to transport up io 100,000 tens of coal by road instead of raif.
Mr Stookes submits that it is artificial to consider the disposal point project in
isolation. He relies on paragraph 44 of the ECJ’s judgment in Ecologistas and
paragraph 45 of its decision in Abraliam v Region Wallone. His submission is
that it is not open to & planning authority to slice up projects and consider
them in isolation. The opencast operations at Ffos-y-far will extract between
750,000 and a million tons but the applications concerning the disposal point
are for processing up 1o 1.5 million tons.

I referred to the reference to “related operations™ in the officer’s report in the
description of the application. The applications themselves, so far as | can
see, refer to “ancillary facilities for use in connection with mineral extraction
operations  at  Ffos-y-Fran™; see for example the applications dated
22 February 2007.

Despite some concem about this I have concluded that this ground is also not
arguable. First, the failure to take account of the application to vary condition
37 of the Ffos-y-fran permission cannot be a criticism of the first three
permissions given on 12 July 2007 and I8 June 2008, because the application
to vary condition 37 was only made on 24 July 2008. As for the last of the
applications, that on 3 September 2008, there is no evidence whatsoever
before the court that granting this or the carlier applications would increase
output from Ffos-y-fran.

Secondly, the sites are distinct in function and purpose, and history, and therc
is no arguable logical connection between them. Aithough material extracted
at Ffos-y-fran is taken to the disposal point, so is material from other mines in
South Wales, The interested party’s submission that if this is to be regarded as
a link then the impact of the totality of all mines and on alf other dircet
extraction in mines which comes to the disposal point would fall to be for
consideration.

Thirdly, the figures relicd on by Mr Stockes clide the Ffos-y-fran site with the
disposal site, There is no limil on the tonnage that can be processed through
the disposal site at present, and so if anything the proposed limit restricts
operations on the site, albeit in theory (inaudible) the contraction of mining in
South Wales. So thus, contrary to the claimant’s submission, what thesc
applications do is to place a [imit on the activities of the disposal point. For
these reasons I have concluded that thosc factors outweigh the use of the word
“related” in the application.

T turn to the question of delay. In view of my conclusion on the substantive
grounds it is not necessary fo deal with delay, but the claimant has not
adequatcly cxplained her delay, What was said on the claimant’s behalf by
Mr Stookes was she had no knowledge of these applications prior to
10 September 2008; that the Cacrphilly applications were advertised in the

49,
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Rhynmey Valley Express; that there were no references to the application in
the minutes of the liaison committee. Contrary to what is stated in paragraph
25(d) of the skeleton argament dated 29 April, in the orazl argument
Mr Stookes accepted that they may have been discussed then.

Mr Stookes also submitied that the court should take into account that there is
a continuing failure. In these circumstances there is a continuing obligation to
remedy the failure in European law: see C-201/02 Wells v Sccretary of State, a
decision of the Fifth Chamber of the ECJ on 7 Januvary 2004. He also
submitted there is no prejudice to the defendants or to the intercsted party.
Finally, he submilted that, if there has been a delay, time should be extended
because it is contrary to Article 10a of the Directive to preclude the claimant
from access to a review process.

. In respect of the two permissions granted in 2007 by the second defendant, the

claim was brought one year and three months later. As Collins J said:

“It is far too late to allow any claim o proceed
against those.”

Those permissions permitted works to extend facilities on the disposal point.
Those works have been carried out. There would be substantial prejudice to
the interested party if it would have to stop using the lomy maintenance
facility, the offices, and the new visitor centre, constructed no doubt at
considerable cost. There is no issue but that the defendants complied with
their legal obligations as to advertise applications for planning permission and
t¢ post notices. The claimant did not see them. That is not a reason for
extendling fime.,

There is no arguable breach of Article [0a of the Directive for a delay of this
sort. What Article 10a requires is access to a review procedure before a court
of law. It is no part of the jurisprudence of the European Court of fustice, nor
of any case put in front of me, that it is arguable that access to a review
procedure subject to a time limit is not sufficient.

[ also have regard to the fact that there was no explanation given for the delay
in the form N461. Where there has been delay the court is, moreover, entitled
lo conciude that time should not be extended unless the claim is, to use
Keene LT's expression in Finn-Keleey [2008] EWCA Civ 1067 at paragraph
29, clear cut. In other words it must be a strong claim. It must be one that in
the public intevest should be allowed to proceed despite the delay and absence
of explanation.

Again [ agree with Collins J who has put the matter much more briefly than I
have. In paragraph 2 of his observations he says of the 2008 permissions:

“...onc is beyond the 3 month limit, one not, but
botk clearly stand or fail together and therc has been
a failure to act promptly. Delay in itsclf would
justify a refusal of penmission.”




55.1 have focussed on the strength of the substantive challenge and reached my
decision on that basis. However, had I concluded that permission should have
been given for & prompt challenge, I would, nevertheless, have agreed with
Collins J that, in the circumstances of this case, the delay in itself justifies the
refusal of permission.

Venue

56. The submissions on venue are in the light of my conclusions moot.
WNevertheless, this is only the second case heard in this courtroom since the full
operation of the Administrative Court in Wales. For this reason, in view of the
submissions, I consider it appropriate to say something about venue.

57. Mr Stookes in his summary reply to the grounds of defence states (paragraph
17-19) that the claimant does not wish proceedings to be transferred to Wales:

“She considers that she will not have a fair trial.
Opencast coal mining in Wales is highly
contentious and the Claimant is concemed that any
regional court may not be impartial. Further, she has
continuing concern for her own safety and tension is
likely to increase if the matter is heard in Cardiff.
This will not be conducive to a fair and impartial
hearing.”

58. Paragraphs 18 and 19 of the reply deal with the position in 2005 in connection
with the carlier proceeding that ultimately came before the Court of Appeal in
London and in which Richards and Ward LIJ commented that the ease should
be heard in Wales. Mr Stookes submiis that they did not see the
representations made te the Administrative Court office when making those
statements.
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. This submission was advanced before me by a solicitor who is an officer of
the court. The only evidence to support his generalised submission that any,
and | emphasise any, regional court may nol be impartial is the
correspondence that was before the court in the carlier 2005 proceedings.
That consists of the letters of 7 and 14 July, 15 September, and an uadated
letter from the then Master of the Administrative Cour, now
Deputy Master Knapman. At that stage, while the National Assembly wanted
transfer to Wales, the interested party’s position was that it wanted to maintain
the triaf date wherever it was. ’

60, The high point of the evidence before me is what was said in 2005, Reliance
is also placed on an article in a local paper which is said to be constructed
from a press release issued by the interested party after Collins J refused
permission. In effect this argument is that regional courts — and I observe that
in Wales there might be some sensitivity about being described as a region --
should not hear matters contentious in that region. [ am surprised that
Mr Stookes felt able to pursue this submission in the absence of evidence.
The submission that cases should be heard at a location remote from the places

aad events with which they are concemed is to my mind an extracrdinary one,
It is incomsistent with the general approach favouring local justice. In the
context of criminal proceedings, the general approach is that defendants

- should, absent particular concern about the impact of local publicity on a jury,
be tried io the relevant locality. This court sits without a jury. Accordingly,
that point does not arise. Claimanis in administrative court proceedings now
have a choice as to where to go and where to issuc their proceedings. But if
they issue outside the region with which they have the closest connection they
are asked to to give reasons for doing so in the new form N461.

The general expectation under Practice Direction 54D of the Administrative
Court (Venue) is that proceedings wilt be administered and determined in the
region in which the claimant has the closest connection, Paragraph 5.2 makes
provision for a broad and flexible approach, taking account of a wide variety
of factors. It will be possible for defendants to apply to have a case transferred
and it will be possible for claimants to issue outside the region. Where the
partics arc content that a case be heard outside the region in which the
claimant has the closest connection, it is unlikely that in the ordinary case a
court will exercise the own motion power in paragraph 5.4 of the Practice
Direction to direct that a claim be determined elsewhere. I do, however,
observe that, in a case involving 2 Welsh public authority because of the legal
instrumenis passed by the Assembly, in particular in the planning context,
there may be justification for a more robust approach. In those cases the court
may be more preactive in initialing the transfer. The Practice Direction
implements the Justice Outside London report. That states in paragraph 65
that there is a “strong expectation™ for Welsh judicial review cases against the
decisions of devolved institutions and of Welsh local and public authorities
will be heard in Walcs, and if issued clsewhere transferred to Wales, absent
good reason,

6l.

62. If a claimant wishes to proceed elsewhere there may be good reason for doing
so but a generalised allegation of bias or unparticularised concern unbacked by
any evidence is not enough and is not a proper basis for such an application,

63. Finally [ note that the way this claim has proceeded has not been what one is
used to in the Administrative Court in London. There the claimant has not
complied with the CPR. The identities of the claimants were not revealed in
the protocol letters. There was no detailed statement of facts and grounds in
the N461. There was a statement in the N461 about the position regarding
public funding which was inaccurate at the date the claimants filed. Finally,
the day before the hearing an additional statement with 43 pages of
documentary evidence was tiled. That included material dated as early as
22 September 2006. No explanation or statement of why ihe material was
submitted so late was given before the hearing. Mr Stookes suggested in the
course of the hearing that this was due to late discovery by the defendant of
the interested party. .

64. None of that material was relied on before me. The court observes that this
disregard of the rules is to be regretted. It is the sort of thing that may happen
with litigants in person. However, as Collins J abserved, the claimant and her




solicitor are well versed in judictal review i this sort of case. 1 respectfully
agree with his Lordship that such a wholesale failure regarding the rules and
the Practice Directions may of itself justify the refusal of permission.

63. For these reasons I reject this application for permission.

Order: Application refused

MR STEPHENSON: My Lord that leaves the question of costs and that is slightly
complicated in this case. Before I deal with it, my , may I also thank your Lordship
for that careful and detailed judgment and just make one other observation just on the
last few points your Lordship made about the failure to comply with the CPR. One of
the faitures that your Lordship has mentioned in the course of your judgment has been
the failure to include or even acknowledge the delay in form N461 (over a minute
inaudible —~ drilling noise). ...that the Legal Services Commission were made aware
of Collins J's decision in the case. He had said that they were. Now that raises a
question over the soundress of the decision, It is extraordinary of my learned fricnd,
if I may say so, to say that officers of the Legal Services Commission. ..

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: ... T am not geing to get into satellite litigation, You
knew, cither the defendants or the inferested party wrote directly to the Legal
Services Commission about this and...

MR STEPHENSON: We didn’t know at that stage that that had happened. T have
accepled what my learned friend has said about it and the only thing 1 said is we may
pursue it, but that doesn’t matter. For the purpeses of this case I have put in my
schedule of costs my Lord and what we ..,

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: May I ask what is the red, the difference between
yesterday and today?

MR STEPHENSON: Yes that’s right. The additions of today. If you look at the
Caerphilly one first of all my Lord, which has been. ..

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: May I just ask, I want fo know - [ was told two...]
made enquirics about the timing of the hearing yesterday. I was told by the officer
iwo counsel (inaudible)? Can I just confirm what the position as to discussions is in
broad terms?

MR STEPHENSON: [ made no representations at all .,

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: [ don’t think Mr Stookes did ¢ither.

MR PRICE-LEWIS (7): It's down to me, my Lord.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: So it's down to you. AllTam really going to say insofar
as we have gone over to today...

MR PRICE-LEWIS: May | say what [ think happened. I heard at the end of last
week that we were listed for yesterday. I asked my clerk if it was possible to have a
time listing. That is all. We didn’t say I couldn’t get here for 10 or anything of that
sort. I practise in London but [ actually live in Wales as it happens...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Well I thought you did.

MR PRICE-LEWIS: I always have practised in London and now welcome your
Lordship’s comments about (inaudible) even though I (inaudible). I practisc and
always have practised in London. ! am pleased to hear {inaudible) if I may so. But,
my Lord, afl I asked my clerk to check was whether we could have the time listing,
The next I was teld it was listed for 2:00. We didn’t know whether your Lordship had
a morning list, whether that was the listing in any event

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: No, well, it was listed for 10.30 and it is fair to say that
the bundles amived together with...I had the original bundle and I had a bundle with
the acknowledgement of services and these two arrived late on the evening. They
arrived in accordance with what I had asked for...

MR PRICE-LEWIS: Your Lordship ordered 4 pm on the day before.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: And so I though there was quite a lot to read in addition
to what [ had previously, so that it may be that the court is partly culpable in this. But
given that the application appcars to have been made, I just see the dramatic impact
on Merthyr, on both of them.

MR PRICE-LEWIS: IfI am at fault, I apologise. [ certainly take any responsibility
for whatever my clerk says. He’s a long-standing clerk, T asked him to make an
inquiry about the listing.

- MR JUSTICE BEATSON: No, no I am very happy with what you say. Mr

Stephenson, you were cut off,

MR STEPHENSON: My Lord, I am grateful. It needed clarifying, My Lozd, so far
as Caerphilly is concerned, therefore, since the legal aid certificate was dated 16 April
the order for costs should be split into two parts my Lord, I would respectfully suggest
and submit. The first is those costs up uniil 16 April, which we ask for against
Mrs Condron, and the costs after 16 April which we also ask for against Mrs Coadron
but as I understand the usual practice is not to be enforced without (inaudible). That
means that the total costs need to be split. Now can I deaj with the Caerphilly one
first of all because that is the more straightforward one. On the first page the
Cacrphilly solicitor has charged out at five hours at £87 per hour, £435. On ithe
second page we bhave the counsel’s fees for advice. That is advice for conference,
documents and suchlike which subsumes the acknowledgement of service and the
other decurnents (inaudible) advice related fo that, And then the fee for the hearing
and then a refresher for today. All of these fees, the fees are Caerphilly’s fees, they
are exastly the same for Merthyr’s fees. Now my Lord [ submit that we are entitled to




ignore the costs after the 16 April because all those fees up until that stage related to
the dealing with the acknowledgement of service. They were not my fees.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: These are all ... so your fiees as it were come in after
(inaudible). Were you not involved in the acknowledgement of service?

MR STEPHENSON: Only the fees for the hearing. Yes, I was involved in the

acknowledgment of service and ali the advice efc that went with that. AllLT said was

that this isn’t a case where you can simply take out an acknowledgement of service
and look at the solicitors’ costs dealing with that plus my costs of drafting it because
this is a case in which we have had to deal with a rolling case which has gone on. We
have the original acknowledgement of service as your Eordship knows which was
simply stating a surnmary acknowledgement but which we had to deal with ...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: (inaudible) the original claim ...

MR STEPHENSON: The original claim had to be dealt with as if it were a proper
claim. It had to be (inaudible) in 21 days and then at the end of that 21 days in came
the detailed grounds of claim plus all the documents, a large amount of which are now
before your Lordship and then after that we had to deal, as I said earlier, with the note
on delay. And in all the correspondence which your Lordship has seen there have
been suggestions that my learned friend has dealt with the claim as a sort of protocol
matter inviting that resistance that the claim be acknowledged and submitted for
judgment. For the reasons your Lordship set out all these matters are related to
dealing with the claim in its earlier stages, all of which should have been put to bed if
[ can put it like (two minutes that are inaudible because of drilling noise)

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: It’s only the hearing since then.

SPEAKER (?): (inaudible)

MR STEPHENSON: That’s the point. If your Lordship wishes, we would wish you
to deal with it that way, simply because it saves the costs of taxation. But if your

Lordship feels unable to [ would be very happy to have an assessment. It is rather
complicated.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Well I want to hear (inaudible)

MR STEPHENSON: Ycs.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: So then Merthyr...

MR STEPHENSON: Yes. If I can go back, my Lord, because as I say [ have put in
red the extra costs in Caerphilly’s case, our total costs there are £5,790.25 including
VAT. I your Lordship docs divide, then what your Lordship should do in my

respectful submission is deduct the cost of the hearing and the costs of the refresher
and that would...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: It would be £3,790.

MR STEPHENSON: That's right, my Lord yes. So that would be the sum we
would seek against Mrs Condron. (Inawdible) and then no restriction and then the
balance of that after that with the restriction and then exactly the same, my Lord, for
Merthyr. 1 would invite your Lordship to deduct £1500 for the fee of this hearing and
£500 for the refresher. That makes a deduction of £2,000 from the total ...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: I am going to rise (inaudible)
{Court rises)

MR STEPHENSON (?): So far as deducting £2,000 in cach case for the costs
incurred since 16 April which would bo cssentially my costs of attendancc and
refresher.

(20 seconds inaudible — drilling noise)

MR JUSTECE BEATSON: It has been more expensive for Merthyr than Caerphilly.
Caerphilly drives a hazder bargain.

MR STEPHENSON: My Lord the only cxtra is that the soliciter for Merthyr
charges a larger amount, a higher houriy rate, than the solicitor for Caerphilly.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: This reflects my newness in this part of the world.
There are goidelines for summary asscssment and they don’t allow for summary
assessment {inaudible) crude, not just this process and we have standard

(30 seconds inaudible — drilling noise)

MR STEPHENSON: My Lord, I am sorry there is a very considerable (inaudible). 1
hadn’t picked this up, I'm afraid. [n the Merthyr one there are attendances on, five

“hours at £120 is £600 and then there are the attendances at hearing,

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: S the ditendances at the hearing are all as it were
attributable to Merthyr although ...

MR STEPHENSON: That’s right yes. Then there is the extra for the additional
hourly rate plus the cxtra hours® work and those two together make up the difference
between as your Lerdship quite rightly says (inaudible)

MR STOOKES: My Lord I am just looking at the bottom line which...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Whoever wrote this in red its not me.

MR STEPHENSON: [ would say it’s me, my Lord.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: (inaudible) £7498 and £5790.

MR STEPHENSON: Yes.




MR JUSTICE BEATSON: So that’s your bottom iinc and that’s what I am looking
at,

MR STEPHENSON: Doing it very roughly, that’s right because the difference is
only £1500, £1700 and the difference between the solicitor’s rates ...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: The difference between the solicilor’s rates and the £600
for the attendance.

MR STEPHENSON: Plus the working out of VAT of course. So that ... T am
grateful to your Lordship for pointing that out. So that’s the order I ask for.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Right.

MR PRICE-LEWIS: My Lord [ am conscious as I represent the interested party in
the Mount Cook position that [ am very limited in what I can say. I have a schedule
which 1 fear may make your Lordship’s eyes water.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Probably best I don’t see it.

MR PRICE-LEWIS: I think that might be the case, my Lord, yes. But it is a
significant amount of money cbviously.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: [t is an interesting fact that when., .. will just say this for
the benefit of all advocates...that last year when I moved to the Administrative Court
the commercial court used to the level of costs in the Administrative Court cases
{inaudible). You are in the Mount Cook position. You have your written and oral
submissions which of course have been helpful, but T don’t think..

MR PRICE-LEWIS: I wouldn’t press that on you. [I simply refer your Lordship to
that case (inaudible). May I just mention one matter.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Yes.

MR PRICE-LEWIS: My Lord in our original grounds of objection we do drawn
attention to concern about furding. It is on page 30 of the supplementary bundle ...
At page 5 of my grounds of objection which [ drafted. 1t's a disclosure of the full
position as to funding. It's paragraph 8(1), preliminary matters, and 1 rcfer to the
claim form and the answer that was given.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Yes, I referred to that in my judgement

MR PRICE-LEWIS: Absolutely, my Lord, but I simply refer to this. We were
invited by the Legal Services Commission to make representations. That is the
position. We made those representations and then funding was refused. Collins J
made his decision on the written permission application and we were frankly
sutprised that after that and given the initial refusal the only thing that seems to have
changed was the refusal of permission, that funding was suddenly given. When |
asked my learned friend today whether Collins J's order had gone before the
Legal Services Commission and he tells me and I weuld like it on the public record

that that is the case. We find that surprising if there are no other chamge of
circumstances that an order of the High Court judge seems to produce as it were 2
decision the other way from the Legal Services Commission. We do express concern
at that given the history.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Forgive me for interrupting, I can understand why
you’re concerned about this but I don’t know what submissions were put before the
Legal Services Commission. What practical...putting it bluntly, what is it that you
want me to do?

MR PRICE-LEWIS: My Lord I want it on the public record, the concern because
both counsel and I understand my clients will want to consider the matter and check

the mattcr.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Well I have referred to the position in the judgment. It
is normal actually, claimants are normally in quite a difficult position with respect to
public funding. And it is érue that this is the first time that T have scen a funding
decision made after a quite full observation (inaudible) but I don’t know what the
claimant submitted to the Legal Services Commission and in these environmental
decisions (inaudible) and I am not going to get out of the box that I am in deciding
this renewed application. If there is an issue...I mean the other thing is, it’s not very
attractive...the Legal Services Commission (inaudible) for themselves. [ appreciate
that as you are in the Mount Cook position you could say [ have got more of an
interest in it because I am exposed without any help so it really is for the interested
party to consider what to do. I can ask for a transcript (inaudible)

MR PRICE-LEWIS. That's exactly what I want, and that's all I want.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: But as I say it does seem ...
(one minute 25 seconds inaudible — drilling noise)

MR STOOKES(?): ... completed a controlied work form which is the former legal
help or before that the former green form scheme. If she does that and then receives
later a funding certificate, then she is covered and it's backdated to the date of...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Is that the position here?

MR STOOKES: It is the positien, yes

MR JUSTICE. BEATSON: What is the dale (inaudible)?

MR STOOKES: It would have been prior, in fact it would have been
September 2008 my Lord, or a day or two after the date when she first became aware

of permission, and that was the time when preliminary work started on 1his
application.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: So you become aware of the application, Is that
because you get funding from that date once you have.,. the funding is going to
support you effectively for the hearing,




MR STOOKES: The funding will, that’s correct, and the funding itself is not
backdated but the protection received from the controlled work 1 form does trigger or
backdate the...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: I haven’t got a white book with me. Are you going te
help me? I shall ask my clerk. (to cletk)Could you get a white book? (to counsel) 1
mean if that is so, L.,

MR STOOKES: It is certainly our understanding and experience of that, but I have
ne...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: T know but my problem is that you have got that
understanding, Mr Stephenson made a submission based on a different understanding.
Without discourtesy to either of you, 1 would like something firmer than
understanding and if I can’t deal with it now I am perfectly happy 1o say that in
principle, unless you have something to say about it, [ don’t think you can resist an
order for costs. The issue here is the restriction... Is there any other issuce?

MR STOQKES: [ would say yes, on the principle of an order of costs this case is an
cnvironmentzl case and in a public law case, where the claimant has no direct impact
on her property, for example, it falls squarely in case that there should be under
Dayey the principle of no order for costs, albeit that we are dealing with a renewed
permission.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Can you show me Davey?
MR STOOKES: I can't...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Is that Fordham?

MR STOOKES: This is Fordham, yes.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Well I think...I tell you what | am going to do,
Mr Stookes, I have got the submissions. | will let you complete those submissions. T
haven’t got the material but I am going to say the following. T will let Mr Stephenson
reply once you have finished. [ am going to ask for written submissions on this point,
well on two points, on whether you are publicly funded from day 10, but the stay on
enforcement should apply from the date you filled out the form, because it seems to
me just without deciding it at all but just as a matter of logic so you know what you
have to address, Mr Stookes. It is illogical that if you have not got permission then
you would have no protection at all, sorry if you have not got funding you have no
protection at all, and if the Legal Services Commission decides to give funding from a
date just before the hearing but has refused you beforchand, the notion that you are
protected for the period in which your application has been refused, then it may that
there is some justifteation for that. It just doesn’t seem very logical. The claimant
decides to go on despite the absence of funding. The Legal Services Commission
could decide to give you funding backdated, they decided not to do so but [ am
concemned about that. I am not going to go against you without giving you a chance
to make written submissions and Mr Stephenson to respond.

And then as for costs of environmental cases it's a double-edged thing because there
is no personal interest. On the other hand you have got standing in this case and no
court would deny that you have got standing. You have abandoned your protective
costs application. You don’t pursue it in relation to the period before the 16™, so I'll
tet you make written submissions about that. But I am...you can sce that I am not,
you will have to make a strong case. I am not riling you out. If every environmental
case was cne at which the defendants proceed on the basis that they would bear the
costs whatever, that’s quite a sharp distinction, sharp difference. There are special
cascs in which costs are not (inaudible). That is what I propose to do.

MR STOOKES: My Lord, are you content for me to put my submissions on costs at
the end of my submissions?

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Well I would like to know the headings on them so that
Mr Stephenson knows what he has to answer.

MR STOOKES: It would be the first point on the Legal Services Commission.

(one minute inaudible — drilling noisc)

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: [ am going to be in Birmingham for the rest of the
month, but I will send my clerk in she can give you her cmail address and
subrmissions can be emailed and T will get them (inaudible). Seven days {inaudible).
MR STEPHENSON: Seven days is difficult. What [ was going to suggest if [ may
do so with respect is that the order should be that my leamned friend Mr Stookes puts
in his submission in seven days...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: And you have another seven days to reply.

MR STEPHENSON: Yes

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: And then for me to determine and make a2 summary
assessment on the papers. ..

MR STEPHENSON: Yes.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: ...without a further hearing. Are you content with that?

MR STEPHENSON: I am content with thal my Lord.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Right, weil that us do that. Can I ask that the order to
reflect the outcome of today's kearing. Can you drafl an order? 1 think that it
wouldn’t have to happen in London. Tt could happen in Cardiff as well,

MR STOOKES: My Lord, there are two other points. The first is I do take issue
with the point. I appreciate what has been said about the approach to the CPR that
this has not been simply the fault of the claimant, certainly not the fault of the
claimant or their instructing solicitors on this, and we had sought to seek disclosure of
2 number of docwments persistently throughout and I think there is equally




apportionment of blame for the way that the matter has proceeded. In terms of the
supplementary bundle and the documents that were there, witness statements...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: I refemred in the judgment to the fact you (inaedible)
disclosure.

MR STOOKES: No, my Lord folfowing on from thai, the point about the
supplementary bundle. The rcason the witness statement was in and the supplement,
it was agreed by hoth parties that we put these in. We sent over and I said, well what
documentation do we want, and they said could yon list and put in fo the document
the various letters and we said ok but we are going to include in that list a number of
others, and there was not objection to that. The reason for putting in a supplementary
buadle is to assist the court (inaudible) than us (inaudiblc).

MR STEPHENSON: It is expressly not accepted that it is agreed. At the very outset
yesterday, 1 wrote to object to them being in. My instructing solicitors cmailed my
learned friend to say that.

MR STOOKES: The final point, and the process and the procedure on where we
have an order. The claimant does have a right to renew her permission application to
the Court of Appeal. That is subjcct to strict time limits, at least seven days to put in
(inaudible) get a new permission to apply for. We would ask that that or ask for an
order now that that seven days does not start until the date of the order rather than the
date of today.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: The date of which order?

MR STOOKES: The date of refisal of permission.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: The refusal of permission is today.

MR STOOKES: T woatld need o, if T can have it,.,

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: If you needed an extension of time in the matter. ..

MR STOOKES: Well...

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: With the bank holiday weekend coming up ...

MR STOOKES: My Lord, I ask for an extension of time,

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: How much do you ask for?

MR STOOKES: Until seven days after the date of the order, the date after your note
on the submissions.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Scven days after ... I don't ... which submissions?

MR STOOKES: Well scven days from the receipt of the order, submissions on costs
my Lord.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: No, no, no. You are not going to (inaudible). The issue
about costs is completely... you are not going to get.. are you applying for
permission (o appeal on my decision about costs? 1 have made my decision. I am

- refusing you permission and so the time runs from, as [ understand it, from now. [am

deferring consideration of costs as a separate issue and [ am open to the suggestion
because it is a bank holiday weekend that you should have more than seven days from
today and I am willing 1o say fourieen days from today. Iam not willing to say until I
adjudicate on costs because that is seven days for you, seven days for Mr Stephenson,
and then the issue is then it comes in, I don’t know what T will be doing, how soon I
can attend to it. So Iam perfectly happy to give you fourteen days from today

MR STOOKES: My Lord, I am grateful. I have taken the point and it’s a distinct
term application and there will be a distinct matter on costs

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: Yes, so you will have to ask for a transeript and you will
have to ask for it to be expedited and the learned ¢lerk can assist you. I am not sure
(inaudible). Get the court office to help. Good, I am grateful to all of you. I will
keep the summary assessment documents. Well actually I am not going to keep them.
What [ am going to ask, Mr Stephenson, is that when you make your submissions you
furnish another set of them.

MR STEPHENSON: [am grateful. Not included in my 15 pages, I hope.

MR JUSTICE BEATSON: No, no, no the 15 pages are submission. If you submit an
authority, it doesn’t count.

MR STEPHENSON: 1 am gratetul my Lord.
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Part B The Funding Code: Procedires
Effective Pate of Amendment

Subject to paragraphs 2 and 3 below, an amendment shall take effeet from the date of
the decision to amend by either the Director or an Authorised Seficitor,

Where a certificate is amended to impose a new costs limitation, the pew limitation
will supersede any earlier cost limitations an that certificate and will take effect from
the date of grant of the certificate, unless the Director specifies otherwise.

Where the Director amends a certificale so as to:

() correct some mistake in the certificate; or

(ii) recorda change of solicitor ar any chanpe of address on the certificate

the amendment shali take effect from such date as the Divector may specify (which
may be before or after the date of the decision to amend).

Procedure on Amendment

. Where a Ditector amends a certificate (gither under Rule 36 or following notification

under Rule 37 or a review under Rule 40}, e shall send the amended certificate to the
solicitor and a copy te the client.

If the certificatc covers proceedings which have commences, the solicitor shull send a
copy to the court,

Where a Directar reluses an application to amend a certificate, he shall notify the
client and the solicitor in writing, including a brief statement of the reasons for so
doing.

Where the certificate covers proceedings which are in existence and the amendment o
the certificate affects the description of proceedings, the level of service covered or
whether the certificate extends to bring or defend any appeal, the solicitor shall
forthwith natify all other parties to the proceedings that that is the case (save where
the Director notifies the solicitor that it is not necessary or appropriate to do 50).

Review of Amendments

Where a client is dissatisfied with 4 Director’s decision to amend a certificate or to
refuse an application on his or her behalf to amend a centificate, the client may,
within fourteen days of receiving notice of the amendment or the decision not 1o
amend the certificate, apply o the Director on a form approved by the Commission to
have thal decision reviewed by the Director and the Adjudicator, and may make
written represeatations in suppert of that application.

The Director will consider any representations received under this Rule and may, if
he or she thinks fit, smend the certificate accordingly.

Subject to paragruph 4 below, unless a review under this rule has been resolved to e
sutisfaction of the client by the Director, the Adjudicator shall ceview the decision,
The Adjudicator shal? nat review a decision 10 amend or not to amend 2n emergency
certificate.

SecTioN 11 — REPRESENTATIONS

C41,

41,1,

Release 17

Procedure for Making Representations

Any person. includiniz an opponent or potential opponent of a client whe has applied
for or has received a certificate. may make representations o the appropriate Director
and, subject 10 paragraph & below, such representations shall be considered by the

Director,

2. On receiving an application the Director may, if he or she thinks fit, notify any other

party ar polential party to the proceedings that the application has been made.

62 The LSC Mamaal, Volume 3, Pt B
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41.3.

41.4,

41.8.

4L9.

Part C - Cenificated Work

The Director may at any stage invite an opponent, potenlial opponent or other person
or body to make representations where he or she considers tha it is appropriate to de
50 before deciding whether to provide or continue to provide public funds to support
the case.

Where the Director considers that representations received are not material or are
unlikely to affect any funding decisions, he or sha shall inform the persen making the
representations that noe further action will be taken on them,

. Subject to paragraphs 4, 6 and 8, the Director shail ensure that the solicitor hus a

cepy of representations received under this Section or, where the representations are
not in writing, shall write to the salicitor setting out the gist of the representations.

. If representations are received from a person who is not a legal represenrative and it

appears to the Director that the person making the representations has neither sent
them to the sulffcitor or client mor given penmission for the Director to do so, the
Director shall not copy them to the solicitor or the client unless he or she has cbiained
the consent of the person makicg the representations to do so.

. On receipt of representations, the Director may, if appropriate, place limitations on

any certificate, but shall not take steps to discharge or revoke a certificate on the
basis of representations received unless the solicitor has been given an opportunity to
respond o issues rzised by the vepresentations. If a certificate ts in force it shall be
deemed to cover reascnable work dome in responding to representations, but such
work must be carried out within the cost limitation,

The Director need not censider representations in detail if they relate to proceedings
which are not cuerently being pursued, for example because the individval case is
stayed pending the outcome of a test case or other Generic [ssue.

The Direetor shall inform the person making representations of the outcome of his or
fer considerations, but is not ¢bliged to do so until a final decision has been taken on
them following any review by the Adjudicator or untit the time for applying for such
a review has expited,

SECTION 12 — REPORTING OBLIGATIONS

C42,

421

423,

424,

C43.

The LT Manual, Yoluma 3, Past B

Duties of the Client

The client shall immediately ensure that the Birector is informed of any change in his
ar her financial circumstances which hus cccurred sioce the client’s Fnanginl
resourees were assessed and shich the client has reason to belicve miglt affect the
terms or the continuation of the certificate.

. The client shall immediately inform the solicitor of any other change in his or her

circumstances or in the circwmstances of the case which he or she has reason to
believe might affect the terms or the comtinuation of the certificate.

The client shall comply with any request by or on behalf of the Director for such
information as the Director may require for the purpose of carrying our functions
under the Code or Regulutions,

The client shall ateend a meeting with the Drirectar where requested (o da so,

Duties of the Solicitor

. The solicitor shall give a report o the Director whenever requested 1o do so,

containing such details as the Director may specify for the purpose of carrying out
functions under the Code ar Regulations,

. 'The solicitor shall also report to the Director where:

(i) the client gives the solicitor information under Rule 92 which the solicitor
considers may be material to the terms or continuation of the certificate;
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INTHE SUPREME COURT OF JUDICATURE
PP M .
2 N'S BE D N,
MR JUSTICE LINDSAY
[2005] EWHC 3007 (Admin)
d Wi
th
Before: - 2
LORD JUSTICE WARD
LORD JUSTICE WALF,
and
LORD JUSTICE RICHARDS _
Between : o
National Assembly for Wales Appellant
-and -
(1} Elizabeth Condron
. -and-
(2) Miller Argent (South Wales) Limited Respondents |

(Transcript of the Handed Down Judgment of
WordWave International Lid
A Merill Communications Company
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Lord Justice Richards :

L. This is an appeal by the National Assembly for Wales (“the Assembly”} from an order of
Lindsay J quashing the Asserably’s grant of planning permission for the carrying out of
opencast mining and related removal and reclamation operations at a site of some 400
hectares at Ffos-y-fran, near Merthyr Tydfil. The proposed developmeat generated a
preat deal of local opposition. The first respondent, Mrs Condron, was one of the
objectors. The second respondent, Miller Asgent (South Wales) Limited (*Miller
Argent™), is the developer.

2. The detailed background is set out very clearly in Lindsay J’s main judgment (sce [2005)
EWHC 3007 (Admin)). A brief summary will suffice at this stage. The planning
application was submitted by Miller Argent in April 2003. It was “called in” under
section 77 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 for determination by the
Assembly. An inspector was appointed to conduct a public inquiry. In his report,
submitted in November 2004, the inspector recommended that planning permission be
granted subject to conditions. In accordance with its standing orders, the Assembly
delegated its decision on the application to a Planning Decision Committee (“the PDC™)
consisting of four members of the Assembly. The Chair of the PDC was Mr Carwyn
Joues AM, the Minister for Environment, Planning and Couniryside in the Welsh
Assembly Government. At a meeting on 3 February 2005 the PDC resolved that it was
minded to allow the application subject to conditions and the completion of a section 106
agreement. A “minded to grant” letter to that effect was issucd on 7 February 2005. The
PDC authorised the details of the formal permission, including review of the section 106
agreement and the final formulation of the conditions, to be dealt with by officials on its
behalf, The formal grant of planning permission followed on 11 April 2005.

3. Mrs Condron thereupon brought a challenge under section 288 of the 1990 Act to the
grant of planning permission. The matter came before Lindsay J, who considered the
grounds under five headings. He dismissed the challenge under four of those headings
but found in Mrs Condron’s favour under the fifth, by which it was contended that the
PDC’s decision was vitiated by the appearance of bias arising out of a remark made by
Carwyn Jones to an objector the day before the PDC meeting. The Assembly now
appeals against the judge’s finding on that issue. The appeal is supported by Miller
Argent and resisted by Mrs Condron.

4. Tn addition, by a respondent’s notice Mrs Condron seeks to uphold the judge’s order on
the basis that he ought to have acceded to aspects of her challenge under three of the four
headings on which he found against her. [ shall defer any consideration of those 1550eS
untit I have dealt with the issue of apparent bias.

Appearance of bias: introdhiction

5. The claim of apparent bias arose out a remark allegedly made by Carwyn Jones to Mrs
Jennie Jones, a retited civil servant who lives in Merthyr Tydfil within sight of the




praposed development and was a member of a local protest grouy i ?
cwde::n:e was. thqt on 2 February 2005, the day beforeptbe PDgC nfet iiﬂ]:l;:ﬁ{iz?ﬂ;}:
plqnqmg_apphcafmn, she was involved in a demonstration outside the Assembly’s office
building in Cardiff. She was invited inside the building by an Assembly member in order
ta get out of the cold. As she entered the building she saw Carwyn Jones and approached
him, What happened next was described in her wilness staterent as follows:

“When [ first approached him I spoke in English an i
whether I could have a word abgut the sch%:mc. ‘;-Iie aasskl;iihr]nn;
w.hether I'was from Merthyr Tydfil and I replied that I was, He
did not appear that interested in talking to me. [ asked whether he
would be willing to continue the conversation in Welsh and he
then became more responsive.

It was a reasonably brief conversation but during this T explai

that he had two little boys and asked him whegjer he wc?uléln I::
concerned about the proposal being developed close to their
school. He agreed that it was a concern but concluded, in English,
that he was ‘going fo go with the Inspector’s Repor?’, ’

I was dishean;ened about the discussion and when 1 returned to our
group { explained Ty conversation 10 them. I was not surprised to
hear lhall the Pl‘annmg Decision Committee had approved the
Scheanl-le, “ﬁ m)lrlzlewar Jones had already made up his mind. He
was also the chair of the group and may have had th -

of having the casting vote. Y © opportuntly

From what_ Cz!rwyn Jone§ told me it was absolutely clear that he
was ot bnngmg an u_nblascd properly directed and independent
n}:ml‘]h to tg]e consideration of the matter. Since he was Chairman
0 e Planning Decision Commitiee this i

unfortunate™ (my emphasis). v patculurly

Th[e point made in relation to !Canfryn Jones's position as Chair of the PDC rclated not

g:: tyﬂt]tz)lta' }::lfl’%::jn that'thedCffl‘nlrlmlfghl: have an influence over the debate but also to the
consisted of only four member: i g i ’

Chait had s oo vore y s and if there was an equatity of votes the

Following the encounter on 2 February, Jemnic Jones's group made a complaint to the

Assembly on the ground that Carwyn Jones had breached the Code of Conduct For

members of the PDC by discussing a case with an intercste i

p‘EiSSCd on tolthg Assembly’s independent Commissioner for%gzgg;dsm;ﬁc&ﬁifg tP‘;’I?ISl
(“the Commnssxon:cr"), who .investigated the matter and set out his ﬁn:iings in a letter of
13 May 2005. H.lS c.onc].uslon was that the complaint was inadmissible since it did not
meet one of the'cntena laid down in the complaints procedure, namely that “it appears at
first stght that, if afl or part of the conduct complained about is established to have been
committed by the Member, it might amount to a breach of any of the matters
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encompassed within Stending Order 16.1(i) or (ii)".

The Commissioner said that he had reached that conclusion after a preliminary
investigation in the course of which he had interviewed Jennie Jones and other
representatives of her group; the Clerk to the Environment, Countryside and Planning
Committee (who also clerked the PDC meeting); an official of the Environment,
Countryside and Planning Division who was the key adviser to the PDC; and Carwyn
Jones himszlf, As to the relevant facts, the Commissioner stated:

“There is a considerable consensus between Jennie Jomes and
Carwyn Jones AM about the conversation that took place between
the two of them on 2 February 2005, Both said that they met
entitely by chance ... and that the discussion was brief lasting no
more than 90 seconds with no witnesses to what was said. Jennie
Tones told me that she could see that Carwyn Jones AM was
obviously uncomfortable at talking to her and was ‘itching to get
away’. Both agree that the conversation started in English but
switched to Welsh soon afler.  Both agreed that the planning
application in respect of Ffos-y-Fran was touched on and that
Carwyn Jones AM referred to the Planning Inspector’s Report.
However there is disagreement about exactly what Carwyn Jones
AM said to Jennie Jones. Jennie Jones claimed that Carwyn Jones
AM told her that he was *going with the Report of the Inspector” —
she took this fo mean that he was going to accept the
recommendations in the Repott — whereas Carwyn Jones AM said
that as soon as he recognised that Jennie Jones was a part of the
demonstrofion against the Ffos-y-Fran application that was taking
place outside the building he teveried to English and told her that
he could not discuss the matter and that he had not yet read the
Inspector’s Report. Both agree that the conversation then ended
and he walked out of the Milling Area.”

The Commissioner then referred to certain provisions of the Code of Conduct, to which [
will need to return later in this judgment. He said that he had carefully considered all the

evidence he had collected. He wenton:

“Jt is indisputoble that Carwyn Jones AM neither sought nor
agreed to a meeting with Jennie Jones as clearly demonstrated by
the evidence of both Jennie Jones and Carwyn Jones AM. The
mecting was wholly accidental and uaplanned.  There is
disagreement about what was said in part of the conversation that
sesulted from this accidental meeting but Carwyn Jones AM is
adamant that as soon as he realised there was 4 danger he would be
discussing the planning application for the Ffos-y-Fran application
he terminated the conversation as quickly as was politely possible.
Jenmie Jones herself said that Carwyn Jones AM was clearly
uncomfortable and ‘fiching to get away’.

The evidence Fom the Committee Clerk and from the
Environment, Couatryside and Planning Division official
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reinforces the claim by Carwyn Jones AM that he di

ﬁna! viesy on 1he_application until the conclusion ocfi'lfh:(g]:l:;a
Decision Committee.  The meeting of the Committee wai
unus‘_mlly prolonged as Carwyn Jones AM {who chaired the
meeting) and the other Assembly Members on the Committes fill
explored thf: many issues and representations about the schem-:
before coming to a final decision. Carwyn Jones AM is also
adamant .thal any views expressed by Jennie Jones in the bricf
conversation on 2 February 2005 did not affect his own
consideration of the matter the following day” (original emphasis)

The Commissioner concluded:

“I have considered whether the mere fact o i
conversatmr} with someone protesting abv:)lt.;ta aLnet:;;I};%icz‘tniir:
however brief and ugplanned, could constitute a breach of the
Code of Conduct for Members of the Planning Decision Panel b
Clanvyn Jones AM. I have concluded that it could mot. I my
view the key test is set out in paragraph 5 of the Code (i)Ir
ha_v;: found no evidence that Carwyn Jones AM failed.;éomzmt
jdr‘;:-: ;]:;g;”; ;::3 hm;fed[y. lby bringing an unbiased, proper(;v
bt emphas?f)?n ent imind to ... consideration of the matter™

;ts\gnosf\;fl:g lsggg aA.ﬂt:r the Curmmssmn_er’s decision letter that the challenge under section
An allegation of b‘;aswfl:a: ric:::%:td:gai':?tthg}e Asseclln o eatir o, Bormision.
expressed in the terms ulti.mately advanced If:?c‘;-ne iisgs:};rp}l‘;a:élo?};ethouﬁzdg Waas o
’rIc_}f'::-c:g:v::o tf:f: conversation between Jennie Jones and Carwyn J’on&%r?m 2 FT!? ry,
That con rt'fli cnlop wai t}owcwr, the subject of a witness statement from I;nnie m
—ich was fl u: e;r y July 2005. The Assembly responded in November 2005 with a
s aten ;rt’a ' oans Mr Gareth Rogers, the Deputy Cletk lo the Assembly’s
" ndar of Condu_ct, who explained the framework of ihe complai
procedure and exhibited the Commissioner’s decision letter of 13 April 2005 (whie:i?llllzll:

claimant had ulready Pllt in evidence). There was no WItness st T
] f I£
} T t tness stalement from Carwyn

;l;l:::;;o:fasfﬂ;ﬁ lT'laiin evidence ?cfbre.r_indsay Trelevant to this issue. At the start of the

Soeson of ¥ ;.; J:e ngrtr;::nt dg:almg with the issue, the judge recorded that there was no
_ i parties as to the legal test, which i

Magifl 20021 2 AC 357 per Lord Hope of Cgraighcad‘:t :)cam“ﬁ)g t © be found in Porter v

;Th'c questiqn is whether the fair-minded and informed observer
aving gons:dercd the facts, would conclude that there was a reai
possibility that the tribunal was biased,”

The type of bias alleged was deseribed b j
) ! s v the judge as “possibl ination”,
adopted a passage in Georgion v Enfield LBC [2004] LGF‘,R 49’:’,e »f';fg'ztin;;iil?:pi}liﬁg
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Porter v Magill in a planning context and said at para 31 that it was necessary to consider

“whether, from the point of view of the fair-minded and informed
observer, there was a real possibility that the planning committce
or some of its members were biased in the sense of approaching
the decision with a closed mind and without impartial
consideration of all relevant planning issues.”

As to how a possible predetermination was said to have manifested itself in this case, the
judge referred to the evidence of Jennie Jones, He then referred to the Commissioner’s

decision letter, Tt will be necessary for me to come back in greater detail to the judge’s
(reatment of that letter, but it is helpful to note a few points at this stage.

First, the judge did not find in the Commissioner's letler any evidence of a clear denial by
Carwyn Jones of lennie Jones’s account of the words spoken by him during the

conversation on 2 February. As the judge put it at paras 63-64:

] accept that the Commissioner did find that there was a
*disagreement’ as to what was said but that, of itself, does not
oblige the conclusion that Carwyn Jones AM. had denied that the
had said the words which Jennie Jones had attributed to him. So
far as one can tell Carwyn Jones AM. did not say words to the
effect, for example, that he could not have said that he would go
with the Inspector’s Report because he did not al the time know
what its conclusion was or that he did not then know what
conclusion the Inspector had arrived at or that he had not received
the officers’ reports summarising the Inspector’s Report but
mezely said that he could not discuss the matter and that e had not
read the Report, 2 70 page document. Nor did he say that he could
not discuss the matter o he bad not read the report.

Merely to assert that he had not read the [nspector’s Report cannot,
in my view, be taket to be even an oblique denial of his saying the
words which Jennie Jones had attributed to him, a denial which
would have been so casy to make had it been open to him. Of
course, if the import of the reference to his not having read the
Report was {hiat he was going to go with the Report even though
he did not know what it contained, that would in no way weaken
the allegation against him of pre-determination ... I reiterate that
there has been no evidence from Carwyn Jones A.M. in oppasition
to Jennic Jones’ witness statement of the 6% July, not cven after the
way the Claimant would put her case to me on ‘bias” had become
enfively clear, nor has there been an application for Jennie I ones’
cross-examination” (eriginal emphasis).

Secondly, the judge observed at para 60, by reference to the terms of the comptaint, that
the question before the Comissioner was whether there had been a discussion of the




case with an interested party; the Commissioner was not, strictly speaking, required to be
concerned with whether there had been anything said or done that signified possible
predetermination. In relation to the Commissioner's conclusion, which he deseribed as
going oulside what was strictly necessary to deal with the particular complaint, he said at
para 66 that it did not deal with the question with which the judge was concerncd, namely
the appearance of bias.

Having regard to those and other matiers, the judge rejected an argument advanced on
behalf of the Assembly that he should accept the Commissioner's conclusion as
conclusive on the issue of bias. He said that he had to come to his own decision on the
evidence before him. He examined various submissions by counsel for the Assembly and
counsel for Miller Argent, before reaching a conelusion expressed as follows (para 75}

“Having heard the argument ! conclude that there was an
unacceptzble possible pre-determination in the Planning Decision
Committee that authorised the grant of planning permission that
finally emerged on the 1™ April 2005. A fair-minded observer,
hearing the words which Jennie Jones attributes to Carwyn Jones
AM., on learning that the Minister was to be Chair of the PDC
dealing with the application the next day, and even recopnising
that the FDC could be expected to follow the Inspector’s Report
unless there were planning reasons not to, would, in my view,
conclude that there was a real possibility that that member of the
PDC was biased.  He would think the member would be
approaching the question of permission with a closed mind and
hence also without impartial consideration of afl relevant planning
issues. His hearing that the Minister had not read the Inspector’s
Report would not serve to deny the possibility of bias that he
would have concluded existed. That Miller Argent’s application
had excited a good deal of controversy and was far from being
such that the balance of its merits and demerits could only possibly
point ene way made the absence of bias more than usnally
important,”

The judge’s judgment had been reserved at the conclusion of the hearing before him. It
was listed to be handed down on Wednesday 21 December 2005. In accordance with the
usual practice, the judge made a drafi of his judgment available to the parties ir advance
of hand-dowi.. It was sent to the parties on the aftetnoon of Friday 16 December. On the
afternoon of Tuesday 20 December the Assembly’s solicitors faxed to the judge u witness
statement of Carwyn Jones responding to Jennée Janes’s allegation as to the words e
used during their conversation on 2 February. [n that statement hie said:

“In relation to the allegation, as it is now phrased in paragraph 4 of
Ms Jones’ staternent, I can catcgorically say that I did not say to
her, either in English or in Welsh, that I was ‘going to go with the
Enspector’s report’ nor did I say anything of the sort which might
have conveyed to Ms Jones the impression that T had already made
up my mind cither way in respect of the planning application
which the Planning Decision Committee was due to consider the
foliowing day.

17.

In fact, at that stage ! had not even read the Inspector’s report, as I
stated to the Commissioner for Standards when he interviewed me
in relation to the complaint ... and as is recorded in the
Commissioner’s decision letter ...."”

On 21 December the judge was faced with an application by counsel for the Assx_:mbly
that he should admit Carwyn Jones’s statement into evidence ra{h;r than proceec]mg_ 1o
hand down judgment in the form of the existing draft. Unsurprisingly, t.he appllcafl?n
was supported by Miller Argent but opposed by Mrs Condron, Aﬂgr hearing substantl':ll
argument, the judge delivered an ex fempore judgment rcfusmg lﬁle Assembly’s
application: that judgment, which is conveniently referred to as his “supplementary
judgment” even though it was given immediately before he handed down his ‘main
judgment on the section 288 chalienge, is reportec.l at [2006] JPL 1512. The judge
thereupon handed down the main judgment in materially the same form as the drafi that
had been made available to the parties.

Appearance of bias: grounds of appeal

18.

20.

The Assembly’s case on the appeal was presented by Mr Corner QC. Neither he nor his
junior appeared in the proceedings before Lindsay J. Four grounds of appeal were
advanced against the judge’s decision on the bias issue. Three of them {grounds 1, 3 and
4) were directed at the main judgment as handed down; one of them (ground 2) at the
supplementary judgment refusing to admit the late statement of Carwyn Jones inte
evidence,

In summary, it is contended by ground ! that the judge failed to make an express finding
whether Carwyn Jones said to Jennie Jones on 2 February 2005 th_at he was ‘fgomg fo go
with the Inspector’s report”™; by grownd 3 that the judge erred in concluding that the
Commissioner’s decision [etter did not disclose evidence of a clear denial by Carwyn
Jones that he had said the words attributed to him; and by ground 4 that the judge adopted
a Aawed approach and reached the wrong conclusion in finding that those words, if said,
would lead a fair-minded and infonned obscrver to conclude that there was a real
possibility that the PDC was biased,

It is contended by ground 2 that, if the judge did find that Carwyn Jones said the wort?s
attributed to him, he crred in making such a finding without admitting Carwyn Jenes s
witness staterment into evidence; alternatively, if the judge was entitled to not to admit
that statement into evidence, the Court of Appeal should nonetheless admit it now as

fresh evidence.

Ground {: lack of express finding of fuct

21.

Mr Comner’s submission is that the allcged utterance by Canvyn Jonc;s was at the heart_ of
the case of apparent bias as presented to the court and it was essential to make a finding
on it. Although the judgment discusses over the course of several paragraphs whether it
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is more likely than rot that Carwyn Jones did utter the words, it does not lend to any clear
finding on the issue. It is not clear that the judge confronted the necessity of making a
decision as to whether the words were in fact uttered. In failing to make an express
finding the judge fell into error.

In my judgment it is plain on  fair reading of the judgment that the judge did find on the
balance of probabilities that Carwyn Jones spoke the words atiributed to him by Jennic
Jones. It is true that the judge did not spell out that finding in express terms, and it would
have been better had he done so. But his reasoning led clearly to that finding and his
conclusion on apparent bias would not make sense without it, Thus the finding is to be
derived by necessary implication from the judgment.

[ have referred already to the judge’s repeated references to the absence of a clear denial
by Carwyn Jones of the account given by Jennie Jones, including his rejection of a
submission that such a denial wag to be found in the Commissioner’s decision letter.
Having considered that letter, the judge stated at para 68 that he had to come to his own
decision on the evidence before him and referred to “the exiguous facts” which a fair
minded and informed observer would have to consider. At para 70 he rejected some
extremely weak submissions by counsel for the Assembly that there was material
inconsistency in Jennie Jones’s account of what had been said and that there might have
been a mistake in translation, At para 71, in response to & submission by the same
counsel that Carwyn Jones’s remark was no more than a “throw-away” remark, the judge
observed that such a remark can be more revealing that a more prepared or studied one
might be. At para 72 he recorded an acceptance by counsel for Miller Argent that there
had been no denial by Carwyn Jones of his having said the words atiributed o him, and
proceeded to reject a submission that the words might amount to no more than an
indication of a mere predisposition rather than a possible predetermination. Although the
Judge referred to the words “attributed to” Carwyn Jones rather than to the words “spoken
by™ him, it seems to me that the judge’s reasoning throughout these passages involves an
implicit acceptance that the words atiributed to Carwyn Jones were in fact spoken by him.

The position is clearer still in the judge’s conclusion at para 75, which [ have already
quoted.  The judge concluded that a fair-minded cbserver, “hearing the words which
Jennie Jones aftributes fo Careyn Jomes A M (my emphasis), would conclude that there
was a real possibifity of bias. If the judge had not found that the words were spoket, his
conclusion would simply not make sense. A further clear indication that such a finding
had been made is to be seen in para 76, where the judge said that the grant of planning
permission should be set aside even though “this is a very large consequence for a very
small remark” (my emphasis).  Again this would not make scnse in the absence of a
finding that the remark had been made.

Mr Comer referred us to Flakerty v National Greyhound Racing Club Lt §2005] EWCA
Civ 1117, in which Scott Baker LJ stated at para 33:

“In my judgment it is an important exercise in an *apparent bias’
case to identify with some precision those facts on which the
suggestion of bias can be based. The judge did not expressly carry
out that excreise in this case. However, the basis for his finding of
apparent bias appears by implication 10 be the material that he has

26.
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set out in paragraphs 57 to 61 of his judgment.”

In my view Flaherty gives no assistance 1o the Assembly’s case on this issue. [am in
fult agreement as to the importance of idensifying with some precision the facts on which
the suggestion of bias is based. The problem in Flalerty was that the allegation was
bascd on a number of matters and the judge did not identify clearly the matter or matters
on which the finding of apparent bias was based. In the present case, by contrast, the
allegation was based on only one matter, namely the words allegedly spoken by Carwyn
Jones, and the finding of apparcnt bias could be based only on that matter. Moreover,
nothing that was said in Flaherty casis any doubt on the legitimacy of identifying a
refevant finding of fact by necessary implication from a judgment even if it has not been
spelled out in express terms.

I would (herefore reject the Assembly’s case on ground 1,

Ground 3: misinterpretation of Commissioner's decision letter

28.

29

30.

As [ have already said, the judge did not aceept that the Commissioner’s letter contained
evidence of a clear denial by Carwyn Jones that he had spoken the words attributed to
him by Jennic Jones. The judge acknowledged that the Commissioner recorded a
disagreement about what was said, but he pointed to the absence of any specific words of
denial by Carwyn Jones and observed that Carwyn Jones’s assertion that he had not read
the fospector’s report did not amount even to an oblique denial of his saying that he was
“going with the report of the inspector”,

Mr Comer submitted that the judge’s interpretation of the Commissioner’s letter on this
point was errongous, I agree with that submission. As [ read the letter, Carwyn Jones

“must have denied saying the words attributed to him by Jennie Jones. [t is worth
repeating the relevant passage:

“However, there is divagreement about cxactly what Carwyn Jones
AM said to Jeanie Jones. Jennie Jones claimed that Carwyn Jones
AM 10ld her that he was “going with the Report of the Inspector’ —
she took this to mean that he was going to accept the
recommendations in the Report —~ whereas Carwyn Jones AM suid
as soon as he recognised that Jennie Jones was a part of the
demonstration against the Ffos-y-Fran application that was taking
place outside the building he reverted to English and told her that
he could not discuss the matter and that he had not yet read the
Inspector’s Report™ {my cmphasis).

The reference to a “disagreement”, followed by two contrasting accounts linked by
“whereas”, indicates clearly to me that Carwyn Jones had denied Jennie Jones's account
of what he said and had put forward an alternative account. This is reinforced by the
further reference, on the next page of the Commissioner’s letter, 1o “disagreement about
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what was said in part of the conversation that resuited from this accidental meeting”. In
my view the Commissioner would have dealt with this very differently if the account
given to him by Carwyn Jones had left room for the possibility of the middle position
identified by the judge, in which Carwyn Jones said nof endy that he had not yet read the
inspector’s report but also that he was going with the inspector’s report — a position th?.t
would be inherently very strange and is not supported even by the evidence of Jennie
Jones herself.

It is of intcrest, though not strictly a matter of legal relevance, that Jennie Jones
understood the Commissioner’s letter in the same way as [ do. In her witness statement
she refers to the letter and states:

“He noted that the Ffos-y-Fran scheme was discussed, although
Mr Jones must have denied saying what he did to me and instead
told the commissioner that his comment to me was that he had not
yet read the Enspector’s report.”

One of the submissions made by Mr George QC was that, for the purposes of his decision

on the admissibility of the complaint, it was not necessary for the Commissioner to
establish precisely what was said in the encounter between Jennie Jones and Carwyn
Jones: the complaint was that Carwyn Jones had discussed the case with an intercsted
party, and given the accidental nature of the encounter it was evident that that complaint
had to fail irespective of what precisely was said during the encounter, [n my view that
is too limited an analysis and, in so far as it sceks to downplay the significance of the
Conunissioner’s exposition of the facts, it is mistaken. Whilst this was a preliminary
investigation into a complaint and the Commissioner did not have to resolve any area gf
factual disagreement that he identified, he evidently considered it necessary to explore in
some detail the extent to which the facts put forward in support of the complaint were
accepted by Carwyn Jones and, where they were not accepted, what alternative version of
the facts was given. That hic did so is entirely understandable, since it was relevant both
for his assessment of the complaint as formulated, i.e. breach of the requirement not to
discuss a case with an interested party, and because he took it upon himself to consider
whether there could have been a breach of any other principles to which members were
required to adhere under the Code of Conduet,

Although [ take the view that the judge was wrong lo read the Commissioner's letler as
containing no evidence of a clear denial by Carwyn Jores of having spoken the words
attributed to him, it does not follow that the judge was wrang to find an the balance of
probabilities that those words were indeed speken. Mr Comer submitted that if the judge
had not erred in his interpretation of the Commissioner’s letter he night have reached a
different conclusion on whether the words were spoken, since it was a fundawmental part
of the judge’s rensoning that Carwyn Jones had af no time made a plain denial of having
spoken the words in question. [n my judgment, however, it is unrealistic to suggest that
the judge’s conclusion might have been different if he had read the Commissioner’s Jetter

in the way that I do.

The point is straightforward — so straightforward that I find it very sqrprising that the
Assembly’s legal advisers allowed this situation to arise at afl. The claimant’s case that

35,
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Carwyn Jones had spoken the words in question was supported by a witness statement
from Jennie Jones herself, complete with statement of truth. There was no application to
cross~examine her and no other direct challenge to her evidence. Against that evidence
had ta be placed the Commissioner’s letter recording, as I have interpreted it, a denial by
Carwyn Jones when questioned by the Commissioner on the subject, Self-evidently, such
second-hand evidence of a denial could rot carey anything like the same weight as the
unchallenged witness statement of Jennie Jones. If there was to be a direct challenge o
her evidence the obvious course, as the judge made clear, was to file a witness statement
by Carwyn Jones, as was eventually sought to be done after receipt of the draft judgment.
In the absence of such a statement it was inevitable, in my view, that a finding on the
balance of probabilities had to be made in favour of the version given by fennie Jones.

This is a convenient place in which to dispose of one small point concerning the version
given by Jennie Jones. According to her witness staternent, Carwyn Jones said that he
was “geing to go with the inspector’s repont”. The Commissioner’s letter recorded her as
saying that he had told her that he was “going with the report of the inspector”, Like the
judge, I see no material difference between those formulations; but it the circumstances I
shall use the forrnulation in her witness statement,

Accordingly, whilst respectfully disagreeing with that part of the judge’s reasoning that
was directed to the Commissioner’s letter, I do not think that this provides a sufficient
basis for interfering with his implicit finding that Carwyn Jones did say the words
attributed to him. For that reason the Assembly’s partial success on ground 3 is
ultimately of no help 1o it. The judge's conclusion as 10 appearance of bias must be
considered on the basis that Carwyn Jones did say to Jennic Jones that he was “going to
go with the inspector’s report”,

Ground 4: whether the judge was right to find an appearance of bias

37.

38.

That brings me to what I regard as the central issue in this appeal, namely whether the
judge was right to find an appearance of bias on the basis that Carwyn Jones did say the
words attributed to him.

Neither befors the judge aor before us was there any disagreement as to the correct legal
test; and I have referred aiready to what the judge said about that test. Nevertheless T
think it important to look in a little more detail at what the test involves. [t is helpful to
start with a passage from Flaherty v Notional Greyhound Racing Club Ltef {cited above).
The court was concemed in that case with a tribunal hearing, kut the principles applied
were general ones. Having referred to the basic test stated by Lord Hepe in Porter v
Magifl {cited above), Scott Baker LI continued, at para 27

“The test for apparent bias involves a two stage process. First the
Court must ascertain all the circumstances which have a bearing
on the suggestion that the tribunal was biased. Secondly it must
ask itself whether those circumstances would lead a fair minded
and informed observer to conclude that there was a real possibility
that the tribunal was biased ... An allegation of apparent bias
must be decided on the facts and circumstances of the individual
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case .... The relevant circumstances are those apparent to the
court upon investigation; they are not restricted to the
circumstances available to the liypothetical observer at the originat
hearing ....”

That emphasis on the circumstances as they appear to the court after investigation finds
expression in various ways in the judgment of Lord Hope in Porter v Magili. The claim
of apparent bias in that case was based on a statement in which the district auditor, during
the course of his investigation into alleged misconduct, announced his provisional
findings at a press conference, It was contended that this suggested that he had a closed
mind and would not act impartially in the rest of his investigation. In rejecting that
contention, Lord Hope endorsed at para 105 what Schiemarm LT had said in the Court of
Appeal, to the effect that whilst there was room for a casual observer to form the view
after the press conference that the auditor might be biased, the conclusion to be drawn
from an examination of the material before the court was that there was no real danger of
bias. Similarly, Lord Hope referred in para 104 to strands in the Strasbourg
Jjutisprudence, on the one hand giving some support for the proposition that the standpoint
of the complainant was important and on the other hand emphasising that what is decisive
is whether any fears expressed by the complainant are objectively justified. He said that
the complainant’s fears were clearly relevant at the initial stage when the court had to

decide whether the complaint was one that should be investigated, but they lost their

importance once the stage was reached of looking at the matter objectively.

Further guidance is to be found in the judgment of Lord Hope in Gillies v Secretary of
State for Work and Pensions [2006] UKHL 2. The claim of apparent bias in that case
was directed towards the medical member of a disability appeal tribunal, Dr Armstrong,
Lord Hope stated at para 17:

“The critical issue is whether the fhir-minded and informed
observer would conclude, having considered the facts, that there
was a real possibility that Dr Armsteong would net evaluate
reports by other doctors who acted as [examining medical
practitioners] objectively and impartially against the other
evidence. The fair-minded and informed observer can be assumed
to have access 1o all the facts that are capable of being known by
members of the public gencrally, bearing in mind that it is the
appearance that these facts give rise to that matters, not what is in
the mind of the particular judge or tribunal member who is under
scrutiny. It is to be assumed ... that the observer is neither
complacent nor unduiy sensitive or suspicious when he examines
the facts that he can look at. Tt is to be assumed too that he is able
to distinguish between what is retevant and what is irrelevant, and
that he is able when exercising his judgment to decide what weight
should be given to the facts that are relevant.”

What, then, are the relevant facis to be gleancd from the material available to the court in
the present case?
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I take as my starting-point the actual words found o have been spoken by Carwyn Jones
to Jermnic Jones, which were put by the judge inte direct speech as “I'm going to go with
the report of the inspector”. It was argucd before the judge, and repeated before us, that
those words go no further than & predisposition on the part of Carwyn Jones to follow the
inspector's 1eport and that a predisposition is to be distinguished from a predeternination
or closed mind. The judge rejected the argument, stating at para 72 that the words
“suggest a mind made up” and “suggest that so far as the speaker was concerned a
conelusion had been reached, and that, on her unchallenged evidence, is how Jennie Jones
interpreted them™. ¥ respectfully take a different view. In the light of the guidance to
which I have referred, I would not place any weight on how Jennie Jones reacted to the
words spoken. And when they are viewed objectively and in their context, the words
appear to me to be consistent with the speaker having a predisposition to follow the
inspector's report without necessarily having a closed mind on the subject.

We were referred to various cases in which the distinction bas beea drawn between a
legilimate predisposition towards a particular cutcome (for example, as a resuli of a
manifesto commitment by the ruling party or some other policy statement) and an
illegitimate predetermination of the outcome (for example, because of a decision already
reached or a determination to reach a particular decision). The former is consistent with a
preparedness to consider and weigh relevant factors in reaching the final decision; the
{atter involves a mind that is closed to the consideration and weighing of relevant factors.
The cases include R v Secrefary of Stale for the Environment, ex p Kirkstall Valley
Campaign Led [£996] 3 All ER 304 at 320-321, Bovis Homes Ltd v New Forest Plc
[2002] EWHC 483 (Admin) at paras 1£1-113, and R (Island Farm Development Ltd) v
Bridgend Cowunty Borough Council [2006] EWHC 2189 (Admin) at paras 25-32. Tdo not
propose to quote from ther, since I regard the general nature of the distinction as being
clear enough.

Mr George submitted that in some of the cases the court has been influenced in its
approach by 2 recognition that allowance needs to be made in order to reconcile the
responsibilities of public authorities as decision-makers with the workings of the
democratic process and the fact that declarations of policy are frequently made in the
course of that process. That may be so, but in my view it does not affeet the validity of
the distinction between predisposition and predetermination.

in addition to the words themselves, it is necessary 1o bear in mind the context in which
they were spoken.  As regards immediate context, these were 2 fow words spoken
towards the end of a short and rather tense conversation, following a chance encounter
and without preparation or warning. The judge observed that a “throw-away™ remark can
be more revealing than might have been a more prepared or studied one. For my part, |
think that a remark made in circumstances such as these needs to be treated with a
considerable degree of caution. It is a case where the wider picture is particularly
important in assessing the significance of the words used.

As for that wider picture, reference should be made first to the inspector’s repart, which
came down with a clear conclusion in favour of the proposed development. At paragraph
356 of the report, the inspector stated:

“Qverall, 1 conclude that the scheme would be in accordance with
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[the] development plan and national policy and that the benefits
would far outweigh the objections. Suitable planning conditions
would minimise and mitigate any detrimental impacts. For the
above reasons and having regard to all matters raised, I conclude
that planning permission should be granted for the proposed
development.”

In the light of that report, which Carwyn Jones had received as the responsible Minister,
there would be nothing surprising about his having a predisposition in favour of the grant
of planning permission as recommended by the inspector.

More important, however, is the evidence found in the Comimissioner’s decision letter as
to what happened at the PDC mecting the day after Carwyn Jones had his conversation
with fennie Jones. In a passage that [ have already quoted in full, and based on the
evidence given to him by the clerk to the PDC and the official who acted as key adviser
to the PDC, the Commissioner stated that the meeting was “unusually prolonged” as
Carwyn Jones and the other members “fully explored the many issues and repressj:ntatinns
about the scheme before coming to a final decision”. That tells against any
predetermination on the part of Carwyn Jonas or the PDC as a whole.

Lindsay J appears to have considered that evidence to be irrelevant on the ground that it
wonld not have been available to the fair-minded and informed observer. He stated:

“66. ... Thirdly, it is clear that in his having recourse to
representations from Carwyn Jones A.M., from the Committee
Clerk and from the official the Commissioner was having access to
information quite outside what one could fairly postlate to be
available te and fo come to the mind of the hypothetical fair-
minded and informed observer.  Fourthly, the evidence to the
Commigsioner scems to have included a detailed account of what
had occurred at the PDC’s meeting, 2 thing not only likely to have
been in breach of the strict confidentiality provisions of SO 17.14
but which would not have been open to the hypothetical observer
and which has been denied to the objectors ...

67. ... [The Commissioner] had, as I have mentioned, evidence
which would not have been open to the hypothetical fair-minded
and informed observer. The evidence before him would seem to
have inclded matters which should not have been before him and
which not only would have been denicd to the hypothetical
observer but, as | have mentioned, were denied to the objectors.”

In my judgment the judge was wrong to adopt that approach, The court must look at all
the circumstances as they appear from the material before it, not just at the facts known to
the objectors or available to the hypothetical cbserver at the time of the decision. [n
treating the Commissioner’s account of the PDC mecting as irrelevant, the judge left out
of consideration an important parl of the overall circumstances.
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Standing Order 17.4, to which the judge referred, provides that a PDC shall meet in
private and its members shall be under an obligation to observe the confidentiality of any
discussion by the committee. Given ihe nature of the Commissioner’s responsibilities I
would be surprised if that was to be read as precluding investigation by him of what
happened at a PDC meeting; but whatever the legal position in that regard, the fact is that
he did carry out such an investigation and he sct out the results of it in his letter, which
was sent to the very group of objectors which had made the complaint. It seems to me
that the information obtained by the Commissioner about the cousse of the PDC meeting
is not only a relevant matter but also one to which substantial weight can properly be
attached even though the information is provided second-hand through the
Commissioner’s letter rather than at first-hand from those present at the meeting.

A further relevant matter, though one that may not have been advanced in this way before
the judge and was therefore not addressed in this context by him, concems the
qualifications for membership of the PDC. By Standing Order 17, the members of the
panel from which the PDC was drawn were those “(a) who are members of the Assembly
commitice having responsibility for planning matters; (b) who have completed a course
of relevant training approved by the Chair of the Assembly committee having
responsibility for planning matters; and (¢) who have agreed to be bound by the current
Code of Conduct for members of Planning Decision Committees issued by the Presiding
Officer”. Even the most basic course of fraining in planning matters would bring home
the importance of approaching decisions with an open mind and having regard to all
relevant considerations. This would be reinforced by the requirements of the Code of
Canduct, to which the Commissioner gave detailed consideration in his letter and which
include the following;

“2. The objective is to ensurc that every decision is properly taken
and to avoid the risk of a successful legal challenge. Our aim is to
ensure that the parties involved in planning cases are dealt with
Sairly, justly and apenly; that afl the evidence is filly considered
and that decisions are based only on material planning
considerations to which all the pariies have aceess. The law
protects these principles and decisions can be challenged in the
Courts if they are not followed.

5. Members of a Planning Decision Committee must: eact, ane be
seen to act, fairly and even handedly, by bringing an wnbiased,
properly directed and independent mind to their consideration of
the matier ...

7. Members of the Planning Decision Panel
should avoid commenting on any planning
application, or matter that might become the
subject of a planning application, in case they
uright be considered to have pre-fudged the
matter if it subsequently came before the
Assembly. If that were the case, the member
cowid not take part in making the decision ..”
(original emphasis),
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In the context of aflegations of apparent bias against members of courls or tribunals,
weight has been placed on the judicial oath of office and the fact that professional judges
are trained to judge and to judge objectively and dispasstonately: see, for example, per
Ward LY in Jones v DAS Legal Expenses Insurance Ca Ltd [2003] EWCA Civ 1071, at
para 28(vi), citing from a judgment of the Constitutional Court of South Africa. Whilst
the position of members of a planning commitiee, even at the level of the Asscmbly, is of
course very different from that of judicial office-holders, the fact that they have received
relevant training and have agreed to be bound by a code of conduct is a consideration 1o
which some weight can properly be attached when determining an issue of apparent bias.

Those are the various circumstances that seem to me to be of particular significance for
the overall assessment. T was not persvaded by Mr Lindblom QC’s submission that
sigmificance should also be attached to certain additional documents, in particular the
officers’ report to the PDC, the “minded to grant” letter of 7 February 2005 and the letter
of 11 April 2005 by which planning permission was actually granted; save perhaps to the
extent that the documents post-dating the PDC meeting are consistent in their terms with
there having been prolonged discussion of the issues at the meeting as stated in the
Commissioner’s letter.

I have referred to a number of respects in which, in my view, the judge fell into error by
disregazding relevant circumstances or in his assessment of their significance, He appears
to have concentrated unduly on the encouater between Jennie Jones and Carwyn Jones on
2 February 2605 and how it would have appeared to an observer at the time, rather than
taking into account the totality of citcumstances apparent to the court upon investigation,
That view is supported by two further passages in his judgment. At para 68 he stated:

*“... L have to come to my own decision on the evidence before me
... a5 to whether a fair-inded and informed observer, having
considered the exiguous facts, would have concluded on the 2r¢
February that 1here was a real possibility that the PDC, meeting
for the first and only time the next day, had, amongst its members,
one who had appeared to have pre-determined the issue with
which it had to deal” (my emphasis).

A similar focus on 2 February is apparent from the way in which he expressed his
conclusion at para 75

“... A fair-minded obscrver, hearing the words which Jennie
Jones atiributes te Carwyn Jones A M., an leamning that the
Minister was to be Chair of the PDC dealing with the application
the next day ... would, in my view, conclude that there was a real
possibility that the member of the PDC was biased ...."

The questien whether the PDC's decision was vitiated by an appearance of bias is
essentially a question of law, requiring a correct application of the legal test to the
decided facts; and 1o answer the question incorreetly is itself an error of law (see Gillies v
Seeretary of State for Work and Pensions, cited above, at para 6),
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In the circumstances I feel entitled, indeed required, to reach a decision on the issue as
raised in this appeal by forming a fresh assessment of my own by reference to the varicus
circumstances that [ have mentioned. The conelusion [ have reached is that a fair-minded
and informed observer, having cousidered all the facts as they are now known, would sot
conciude that there was a real possibility that Carwyn Jones himself or the PDC as a
whole was biased when reaching the decision lo grant planning permission. Viewed in its
wider context, the brief remark by Carwyn Jones that is at the centre of the case provides
an insufficient basis for the suggestion that the decision was approached with a closed
mind and without impartial consideration of all relevant planning issues,

I would therefore accept the Assembly’s case on ground 4.

Grownd 2: the new evidence
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The conclusion I have reached on ground 4 is based on the material that was before the
judge and was considered by him in his main judgment. Since that conclusion is
sufficient for the purposes of the Assembly’s appeal, it is strictly unnecessary for me to
deal with the Assembly’s challenge to the judge’s supplementary judgment refusing to
admit the late witness statement of Carwyn Jones. I think it right, however, to cover the
point.

It will be recalled that a witness statement by Carwyn Jones, containing a categoric denial
that he had spoken the weords attributed to him by Jennic Jones, was filed on the afternoon
before the main judgment was due to be handed down (and four days after the draft of
that judgment had been made available to the parties).

Carwyn Jones’s witness statement did not contain any ¢xplanation of why it had not been
filed earlier. In fairness to him, however, I should set out the explanation that ke gave
later, in a second witness statement, which was not available to Lindsay J but is sought to
be adduced in support of the present appeal:

3. The fifth ground of chatlenge did not refer to my conversation
with Jennie Jones. Accordingly, I saw no need to produce a
statement dealing with that conversation.

6. Sometime in July 2005, the Appellant’s solicitors were served
with a number of statements on behaif of the Claimant, One of
these was a short Wilness Statement from Jennie Jones, dated 6
July 2005. I was not supplied with a copy of ihe Witness
Statements at the time and, in the ardinary course of events, I was
not expecting to be provided with & copy of them. That said,
having now seen the content of Jennie Jones’s Witness Statement,
[ can see that I should have been supplicd with a copy of it at the
time of its service and that I should have been given the
opportunity to give my account of what took place. Had that
occurred, [ would have stated (and T would have wanted to state)
that I did not utter the words that [ was ‘going to go with the
Inspector’s report’ or any words to that effect.




62,

63.

64,

7. The first time [ was advised that T might need to make a
statement was on 19" December 2005. At this time [ was
returning to the United Kingdom from Dubai.

8. Upon my retum to Cardiff on 20" December 2008, I met with a
lawyer from the office of the Directorate of Legal Services of the
National Assembly for Wales and provided my Witness Staternent
immediately. This was also the first time that I saw a copy of
Jennie Jones's Witness Statement,”

Whilst that statement provides an explanation from Carwyn Jones’s persenal viewpoint, it
does not touch on the reasons why the Assembly’s legal advisers and officials did not
supply a copy of Jennie Jones’s witness statement to Carwyn Jones, or ask him ta make a
witness statement in response ko it, at an earlier stage of the proceedings, It must have
been either a deliberate and in my view seriously ill-judged tactical decision or a serious
oversight. It would be wrong te speculate further. In any event, as I have said, Lindsay T
did not have before him even the explanation pgiven in Carwyn Jones’s second witness
statement,

In his ruling the judge referred to a number of authorities, including Royal Brompton
Hospital National Health Trust Service v Frederick Alexander Hammond & Others
[2001] EWCA Civ 778 and Robinson v Fernshy & Another [2003] EWCA Civ 1820,
Those authorities are discussed at some length in Vol 1 of the 2006 White Book at para
40.2.1. In summary, and at the risk of over-simplification, they indicate inter aiia that
there is jurisdiction to re-open a case and to alter a judgment that has been made available
it draft 1o the parties (or even a judgment that bas been handed down, provided the order
has not been perfected), but that the power should be exercised only where there are
exceptional circumstances or there are at least strong reasons {or doing 0.

Mr Comer conceded that the judge directed himself correctly as to ihe relevant principles,
but he submitted that the judge’s rcasoning was unsatisfactory and that his conclusion
was wrong. The justice of the case demanded that the witness statement be admitted into
¢vidence. It went directly to the issue of fact at the root of the ground on which alone the
Jjudge allowed the claim. The judge had reached his conclusion on the basis that there had
been no clear dental by Carwyn Jones, yet the witness staterent comdained just such a
denial; and to proceed to a substartive judgment on a basis contradicted by the witness
staternent was at the least highly artificial. Morcover this was an important matter not
only for the private parties involved but also for the public, both because of the
importance of the development and because the issue went to public cenfidence in
government and in the Minister personally. Admission of the statement would have been
in accondance with the overriding objective.  If the statement had been admitted, the
resulting issuc could have been dealt with relatively shortly {there would have had to be a
further hiearing for cross-examination of Carwyn Jones and probably of Jennic Joncs as
well). There could have been an appropriate costs order and there would have been no
prejudice to the claimant. The judge himself acknowledged that there was “a powerful
case for admission of the evidence™ (para [6 of the supplementary judgment). His
analysis of factors telling in the other direction was defective in various respects and did
not establish reasons of sufficient cogency to autweigh the case for admissien of the
evidence.
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[ do not propose to set out the judge’s detailed reasoning or to engage in a detailed
analysis of the various criticisms that Mr Corner made of it. [ note that this was an ex
fempore judgment and that the focus should be on the substance of the points addressed
by the judge rather than on the precise mode of their expression. The cssence of the
matter was capiured i the penultimate paragraph of the judgment:

“There are, therefore, a number of issues that I reed to balance.
Doing the best [ can to take into account the factors that have been
laid before me, and bearing in mind fhat the court normally does
have a strong wish to allow evidence in if it is material, as this
evidence would undoubtedly be, nonetheless it scems to me right
that using the mechanism now employed for handing down
judgments is not intended to give an opportunity for issucs
otherwise lost to be sought to be recovered and, going back to the
passages that I have cited from the Royal Brompton casc and the
Raobinson case, it seems 10 me right here that one must have regard
to the need for finality. Here again I note that no witness
statement has been given as to exactly how this deficiency came
about, but were applicants generally to feel, after sceing the draft
judgment in their cases, that there is evidence that could perhaps
have tumed the balance one way or another and that without even
a witness statement to explain ifts absence they could then adduce
that evidence, there would be a very great demerit and finality
would be put even further away,”

I am satisfied that the judge gave proper consideration to the various issues canvassed
before him and that there is no basis for interfering with his exercise of discretion.
Indeed, I would go further and cxpress agreement with the conclusion he reached.

Mr Cormer submitted that, even if Lindsay ¥ was right not to admit the witaess statement
in evidence, this court should now admit it. He coneeded that he could not satisfy the test
in Ladd v Marshall [1954] 1 WLR {489 for the admission of fresh evidence, since it was
impossible to say that the evidence could net have been obtained with reasonable
diligence at the trial; but he argued that the Ladd v Marshall wcst is not applicd as a sirict
rule in judicial review and similar proceedings. In my judgment it is uanceessary to
spend any time on the scope or detailed application of the Ladd v Marshedi test. Once it
is feund that the judge was entitled, for the reasons he gave, to refuse 1o admit Carwyn
Jones's witness stalement into evidence before him, it seems to me to be self-evidently
inapprapriate for this court to admit that same wilness statement into evidence on the
appeal. Carwyn Jones’s second witness statement does not materially affect the position
and there has been no other change in circumstances, [ would dismiss out of hand the
application to adduce fresh evidence.

It follows that in my judgment the issue of apparcnt bias has to be determined by
reference omly to the evidence that was before Lindsay 1. If it is considered
unsatisfactory that an issue of this kind should be resolved on a factual basis that the
Minister disputes but has not been able to address in evidence to the court, the blame for
that lics squarely with the Assembly for the way in which it has chosen to conduct the
litigation, [t may, however, be of some consolation to the Minister that cven on the
factual basis that he disputes 1 am satisfied, for the reasons I have given under ground 4,




that the ¢laim of apparent bias is not made out.
Appearance of bias: conclusion

69, For the reasons given under ground 4, [ would aflow the Assembly’s appeal on the issue
of apparcnt bias. That makes it necessary for me to consider Mts Condron’s respondent’s
notice and the alternative bases ot which she seeks to uphold the judge's order.

The issues raised by the respondent’s notice

70.  The issues raised by Mrs Condron’s respondent’s notice relate to (1) an alleged failure to
take proper account of certain policy guidance concerning buffer zones around mineral
workings, (2} the implications of proceedings in the Assembly on 16 March 2005
concerning proposals for primary legislation that would empower the Assembly to
impose buffer zones, and (3) an alleged failure to have regard to certain post-inquiry
submissions,

71, Underlying all those legal issues is a matter of intense practical concern to local residents,
namely the proximity of the development to some of their homes. The issue is
particularly acute for the settlement of Mountain Hare on the western edge of the site and
for a group of residences called Incline Side on the south western side of the site, The
Jjudge described the position as follows:

“4. The residents of Mountain Hare, as they furn their eyes
towards the site, see first, a little higher than they are, the
A4060(T) trunk road (two lanes width in each direction) and then,
running paratlel to the road, the boundary of the site, and then,
aimost immediately inside that boundary, a steep man-made bank
to a height of about 15-17 metres above the level of the road.
There is no constant distance between the cdge of the site and the
proposed edge of workings; that distance varies greatly from one
part of the site {o the other. So far as concerns Mountain Hare, the
proposed workings, parily consisting of the shifting of the earth
and overburden currently in place and partly, then, of opencast
nmiining, wilk take place 2 littfe short of the top of that steep bank,
then moving further away as works progress. At Mountain Hare
the closest limit to the proposed working lics at a distance of some
40 metres or so, give or take a few metres, farther back from the
boundary of the site. One objector, Mr W.T. Evans, at Mountain
Hare, whose house faces the trunk read, has the front wall of his
house about 37 metres from the site boundary and at perhaps 60-
70 melres from the nearest point of the proposed workings.
Certainly there will be proposed workings which will lic well
within 100 meires of the front wall of his house.

5. 14 dwellings Tic in the band of being between 0-100 metres
from the proposed workings on the site (12 at Mountain Hare, 2 at
Incline Side), some 27 dwellings in the band between 100-200

metres, thus making 41 dwellings within 200 metres of the
proposed workings on the site.  The Inspector notes there to be 61
dwellings within 200 metres of the site boundary. To judge
somewhat crudely from the scale on the plans, no house of the 15
or so at the Mountain Hare cluster north of the roundabout is more
than about 150 metres from the proposed workings.”

72.  Theconcerns of those living so close to the site are entirely understandable and it is clear
from his judgment that the judge had them well in mind. At the same time, however, it is
right to stress that the role of the court is to examine the legality, rather than the factual
merits, of the decision to grant planning permission.

Buffer zones: Minerals Planning Policy Wales

73.  The first of the grounds raised by the first respondent’s notice is an alleged failure of the
Assembly properly to interpret and take into account existing policy in Minerals Planning
Policy Wales (“MPPW"), published in December 2000. That issue is not considered in
terms by the judge when dealing with the numerous submissions addressed to him under
the heading of buffer zones. Mr Commer suggested that that was because it was in facta
new point. 'We were assured by Mr George, however, that the paint was among those
taken by him before the judge, and [ am prepared to consider it on that basis.

74, MPPW para 40 states:

“... Buffer zones have been used by mineral planning authorities
for some time to provide areas of protection around permitted and
preposed mineral workings where new development which would
be sensitive to adverse impact, including residential areas, ...
should be resisted .... The maximum extent of the buffer zone
would depend on a number of factors: the size, type oad localion
of workings; the topography of the surrounding area; existing and
anticipated [evels of noise and dust; current and predicled
vibration from blasting operations and availability of mitigation
measures. Buffer zones will of necessity vary in size depending
on the mineral being extracted and the nature of the operation, but
must be clearly defined and indicated in Unitary Development
Plans .... Further guidance on the factors that should be taken into
aceount when defining buffer zones for particular minerals will be
pravided in Technical Advice Notes.”

75.  There are really two steps in Mr George's submissions. The first is that MPPW laid
down a policy that a minimum buffer zone should be provided between mineral workings
and residential areas. No relevant unitary development plan and no Technical Advice
Note for coal mining had been issued since the publication of MPPW, but the principle
was cstablished by MPPW itself. A letter written by Carwyn Jones as Minister for
Environment, Planning and the Countryside had acknowledpged that MPPW set out
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“[current rational policy ... for buffer zones arcund all types of mincral development,
their extent to be defined in development plang™.

The sccond step in Mr George's submissions is that the Assembly, in reaching the
decision to grant planning permission without imposing a buffer zone, iled to appreciate
that this invalved 2 departure from the policy. The inspector’s report did not make that
clear and failed to highlight to members of the PDC that they could impose a buffer zone,
Neither the officers’ report to the PDC nor the “minded to grant” letier nor the actual
grani of planning permission contained any recognition of the fact that MPPW supported
the principle of buffer zones or of the fact that the deeision involved a departure from
national policy on that issue.

I see no great difficulty about the Brst step in those submissions, provided that the effect
of MPPW is not overstated. MPFW can certainly be said to favour buffer zones and even
to advocate their adoption. To that extent it contains relevaat policy guidance, even
though, as Mr Corner submitted, its focus is on the identification of buffer zones i
unitary development plans and it also envisages the adoption of more specific guidance
by way of a Technical Advice Note for coal mining,

I cannot, however, accept the second step in Mr George’s submissions. In my view the
relevant policy was both properly understood and taken properly into account in the
decision-making process.

The inspector’s report contains a factual section on MPPW. One of the parts of MEPW
to which refercnce is made is para 40, which in the inspector’s words “advecates the use
of buffer zones to provide areas of protection around mineral workings and says these
should depend on the nature of the operation™. He reverts to this in his conclusions,
stating at para 31%:

“Some objectors have drawn attention to the inclusion of a 500
meire buffer zone around opencast sites propased in the latest draft
of Scottish Planning Policy 16, Opencast Coal, and suggest that
Wales should follow suit. In fact, MPPW alrcady advocates the
use ot buifer zones around mireral workings to avoid conflict with
residential areas but advises that their size will depend on the
natare of the parlicular operation. In the circumstances at Ffos-y-
fran, where reclamation objectives for that particular area of land
are also involved, the assessment of the possible impacis
themselves is an acceptable approach, as relying on broad-brush
guideline distatces would take no account of the particular local
circumstances.”

In that passage the inspector acknowlcdges the MPPW policy in favour of buffer zones
but gives rcasons why he does not consider a buffer zone to be approprate in this
particufar case. Those reasons have to be read in the light of the rest of the report and can
be scen to have two elements to them. First, this was not simply a scheme for coal
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extraction but also one for land reclamation which, as explained clsewhere in his report,
was in accordance with the aims and policies of the local plan; and if the development
was to achieve the restoration of the land, the land had to be worked upon. Secondly, as
also explained clsewhere in his report, the inspector looked carefully at the possible
impacts that the workings would have on the health and living conditions of local
residents, in particular as regards dust, noise and blasting, and felt able to conclude that
the proposed mitigation measures, which would be subject to detailed control by planning
conditions, would ensure that the effects were not significant or unacceptable. His
reasons, though briefly stated, are adequate, intelligible and tational. They disclose no
misinterpretation of MPPW or failure to take it into account or failure to make clear that
the inspector was departing from what was advocated in MPPW. Accordingly I see no
error of law in the inspector’s approach to this issue.

Nothing that happened thereafter gencrated any emor of law on the issue by the PDC.
The officers” report to the PDC agreed generally with the inspector’s report and
recommended acceptance of his conclusion. It also drew specific attention at para 35 to
the issue of buffer zones, referring to MPPW and summarising the inspector’s view. The
“minded to grant™ letier of 7 February 2005 stated expressly in para 5 that “[sJubject to
the comments below the Planming Decision Comimittee agree with the Inspector’s
conclusions and accept his recommendation”; in para 7, that the PDC “see no reason to
disagree with the Inspector’s conclusion that the general effect on the heakth of the
community would not be significant and that, with the imposition of apprapriate
conditions, the effect on living conditions of nearby residents from dust, noise and
blasting would not be unacceptable”; and in para 12, that subject to certain amendments
the PDC “agree with the Inspector that the conditions listed in the Anncx to his report
would provide adequate and necessary controls over working methods aimed at
minimising and mitigating impacts on the environment and local amenity and shoufd be
imposed”. The letter of 11 April 2005 containing the actual grant of planning permission
added nothing material. What one sees throughout is an adoption by the PDC of the
inspector’s approach. If, as I would hold, the inspector’s approach was lawfiil, then so
too was that of the PDC.

[n the context of this and the next issue, Mr George made much of what was szid by Alun
Flied Jones, onc of the members of the PDC, in the course of an Assembly debate on 16
March 2005:

“On the buffer zone, with reference to Ffos-y-fran, which has
raised the temperature this afternoon, let us make onc thing clear:
there is currently no guidance on this matter. However, the focal
authority, as the planning authority ... could have indicated that it
wanted a buffer zone, but it was impossible, as far as [ know,
according to official puidance, for the planning decision
commiltee 10 impose such a condition as it was not mentioned in
the inspector’s report. That is the situation as I understand it.”

Alun Ffred Jones had also stated in a leiter dated 14 February 2005 to Mr W.T. Evans that
“[t]he other problem for those opposing the scheme {at Ffos-y-fran] is that the
Government of Wales does not have a policy on buffer zones between open cast sites and
residential arcas™.
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The remarks made by Alun Ffred Jones in the course of the debate and in hig letter
display a regrettable degree of ignorance or cont‘usiqn on his part, l'x')th as to the existence
of guidance on buffer zones and as to the power to imposc a condition conceming blulffcr
zones. But in my view they do not provide a basis for challenging the PDC’s decision.
What the PDC did and the reascas for it arc to be derived from the inspector’s report and
the commitiee’s own documents accepting and giving effect to that report. Al these
documents, as I have indicated, display a comect understanding of the guidance ard the
legal position conceming buffer zones. It is that material, rather than_stalemcnls.madc'by
one of the PDC members outside the PDC meeting and some time after it, which
conskitutes the proper basis for deteemining the lawfulness of the PDC's decision.

Buffer zones: the Assembly debate of 16 March 2005
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The noxt ground raised in the first respondent’s notice is based on a debate .in the
Assembly on 16 March 2005 on the issue of buffer zones. It is said that in the light qf
that debate the PDC ought to have reconsidered its resolution of 3 February 2005 that it
was minded to grant planning permission for the development,

It is common ground that it was still open to the PDC to reconsider its resclu}ion up to'the
time when planning permission was actually granted by the letter of 11 Apil 2005. The
approach to be adopted where a new consideration avises between the date of the
resolution and the date of grant was discussed by the Court of Appeal in R (Kides) v
South Cambridgeshire District Council [2002) EWCA Civ 1370, [2003] | P&CR 19. pn
its facts that was a very different case, involving a five year gap betwceen the planning
cammittes’s resolution in principle to approve a planning application and the issue of a
decision notice by the delegated officer granting planning perrqission; _and in the interim
there had been major changes in terms of national policy guidance am:i other
circumstances. The case is nevertheless important for the principles laid down in it

Jonathan Parker L), giving the leading judgment, referred first to the duty of an authority
under section 70(2) of the 1990 Act to have regard to all material considcra_nons when
dealing with o planning application, He held that this duty extends up Lo the issue of the
decision notice granting planning permission.  He continued:

“121. In my judgmenti a consideration is ‘material’, in this
context, if it is relevant to the question whether the application
should be granted or refused; that is to say if' it is a factor which,
when placed in the decision-maker’s scales, would tip the balance
to some extent, one way or the other, [n other words, it must be a
factor which has some weight in the decision-making pracess,
although plainly it may net be determinative. The test must, of
course, be an objective ene in the sense that the choice of material
considerations must be a rational one, and the considerations
chosen must be rationally related to land use issues.

122. In my judgment, an authority’s duty to ‘have regard o’
materizl considerations is not 1o be elevated into a formal
requirement that in every case where a new material consideration
arises after the passing of a resotution (in princigle) to gramt
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planning permission but before the issue of the decision notice
there has to be a specific referrat of the application back to
committee. In my judgment the duty is discharged if, as at the
date at which the decision notice is issucd, the authority has
considered all matedal considerations affecting the application,
and has done so with the application in mind — albeit that the
application was not specifically placed before it for
reconsideration,

126, In practical terms, therefore, where since the passing of the
resolution some new factor has arisen of which the delegated
officer is aware, and which might rationally be regarded as a
‘material consideration’ for the purposes of s.70(2}, it must be a
counsel of prudence for the delegated officer to e on the side of
caution and refer the application back ta the authority for specific
reconsideration in the light of that new factor. Tn such
circumstances the delegated officer can only safely proceed to
issue the decision notice if he is satisfied that (a) the authority is
aware of the new factor, (b) that it has considcred it with the
application in mind, and (c) that on a reconsideration the authority
would reach (not might reach) the same decision™ (original
ernphasis).

The question in the present case is whether the Assembly debate on 16 March 2005
amounted to a new factor which might rationally be regarded as a “materal
consideration” and which ought to have caused the delegated officers to rofer the
application back to the PDC rather than proceed with ihe issue of the letter of [1 April
2005 granting planning permission, (In fact the PDC would have had to be formaily
reconstituted for the purpose, since it ceased to exist on issue of the “minded o grant”
letter.  But nothing tums on the procedural technicatities. Had officers considered it
necessary o refer the matter back to the PDC, such a result coutd no doubt have been
achieved )

The context of the debate was that the Assembly was considering proposals fo be
submitted by the Welsh Assembly Government for the enactment of primary [cgistation
by the Westminster Parliament. An amendment cailed for a bill ¢nabling the Assembly
“to set a 500 metre scparation distance belween proposed sites and residential
scttlernents”.  As Carwyn Jones, the relevant Minister, observed at the outset of the
debate on that amendment, the Assembly atready had the power to impose such a buffer
zane, and the legisiation sought by the amendment would therefore require or commit the
Welsh Assembly Govermnment to seek legislation to obtain a power that the Assembly
already had. Nonetheless the amendment was passed, by a bare majority,

Mr George told us that the reason for the debate was that a number of members wanted (o
highlight the case for extensive buffer zones around opencast workings. He submiited
that the outcome of the debate was the clearest possible indication that the majerity view
it the Assembly was that buffer zones were appropriate for opeacast mining, including at
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sites such as Ffos-y-fran, 10 which specific attention was drawn in the course of the
debate, There were also suggestions in the debate that, even if the powers alrcady
existed, the existence of ihe legislation sought by the amendment would cnsure that
buffer zones were applied. One of the menbers, Jaret Davies, asked the Minister for an
assurance that, if powers already existed, he would implement a 300 metre buffer zane at
Ffos-y-fran. Another, Alun Ffred Jones, made the mistaken comment which [ have
already quoted to the effect that it was impessible for the PDC to impose 2 buffer zone at
Ffos-y-fran as it was not mentioned in the inspeetor’s report. The First Minister, in
replying to the debate, showed a misunderstanding of the Jegal position concerning the

Ffos-y-fran application when he informed members that planning permission had been

confinmed by the PDC and could not be reversed. It is fair to note that he also referred to
the difficulty he faced in tatking about the Ffos-y-fran decision itself, cvidently because

of the requirement to respect the confidentiality of the PDC proceedings, but he felt able ‘

to say “I do not believe that the issue of the buffer zone and the role of the planning
decision committee was as it is now being painted, namely that it was not considered”.
He went on to express general agreement with buffer zones but indicated that their width
should depend on the circumstances of the case.

Mr George submitted that the Ffos-y-fran application ought to have been referred back to
the PDC for reconsideration in the light of that debate, especially given the majority view
in favour of buffer zones, the First Minister’s own support for the principle of buffer
zones, and the fact that one of the members of the PDC had shown a misunderstanding of
the existing power of the PDC to impose a buffer zone. In the real world this was a call
for the Ffos-y-fran decision to be reconsidered. [t was a new material consideration and
indeed an important one, and there might have been a different outcome had the matter
been reconsidered.

The judge rejected Mr George's submissions on this issue for two main reasons. First, he
said that buffer zones formed only a relatively miner part of the totality of the arguments
and evidence before the inspector. Secondly, he said that the new factor was one which
would “very probably” have made no difference to the PDC's decision. Mr George
submitted that the first rcasen was imelevant because the whaole point was that the
importanee of the issue had now become plain in the light of the Assembly debate; and
that the judge had adopted the wrong test in his sccond reasen, the correct question being
whether the decision would inevitably have been the same (see e.g. Swith v North East
Derbyshire Primary Care Trust [2006] EWCA Civ 1291, para 10),

Whilst agreeing with the judge's conclusion on the issue, | do so for semewhat different
reasons. [0 my judgment the Assembly dcbate was not a new factor capable of
amounting to a material consideration in relation to the Ffos-y-fran application. [t wasa
political debate about a request for primary legislation for the conferment of powers
which the Assembly already had. Tt touched on issucs already considered by the PDC
and inctuded some strong expressions of view about those issues, but it did not fay down
any new planning policy and did not give rise to any new planning considerations. As |
have held in rejecting the previous ground, the PDC had already given lawful
consideration to the question of buffer zones and had accepted the inspector’s approach to
the issue, That approach was premised en the existence of a power fo impose a buffer
zone and recognised the policy in MPPW in favour of buffer zones, but also had regard to
the individual circumstances of Ffos-y-fran in reaching a decision that a buffer zone was
not appropriate in the particular case. In relation to none of those matters did the debate
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change anything.

It is of course unfortunate that the First Minister advanced the legally erroneous argurment
that the Ffos-y-fran planning permission had been confirmed and could not be reversed,
That crror was not, however, material since responsibility for initiating a referral back to
the PDC lay with the planning officers and there is nothing to show that they were under
the same misapprehension as the First Minister; and in any event, as I have indicated,
there was no good reason why the matter should be referred back to the PDC.

As to the remarks made by Alun Fired Jones, [ have explained in the context of the
previous ground why in my view they do not provide a basis for challenging the PDC’s
decision. To apply that reasoning to the present context, it seems to me that, where the
inspector’s report and the PDC’s own documents accepting and giving effect to that
report all display a correct understanding of the guidance and the legal position
concerning buffer zones, it cannot be said that erroneous statements made by one of the
members of the PDXC outside the PDC meeting and some time after it amounted to a new
material consideration requiring the matter to be referred back to the PDC.

I should mention finally that Lindsay J dealt at some length in his judgment with Bofron
Metropolitan Borough Council v Secretary of State for the Environment (1990} 61 PECR
343, on which Mr George had placed substantial reliance in his submissions before the
judge. Bolton was also referred to in Mr George's skeleton argument before us, but was
touched on only briefly in his oral submissions. I think it unnecessary to set out the detail
of the case, for which I can rely on para 24 of the judgment below. It suffices to say that
the Green Paper proposals that were at the centre of that case involved a fundamental
change in the relevant powers of public authorities and therefore in the circumstances
affecting the compulsory purchase order with which the case was concemed. That
situation is readily distinguishabic on its facts from the preseni case where, for the
reasons I have given, the Assembly debate did not in my view give rise to any material
change of circumstances,

Post-inguiry submissions
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The third and last ground in the first respondent’s notice is that the PDC failed 1o have
regard to post-inquiry submissions made by objectors regarding (i) the existence of
previously undisclosed former landfill sites on the application site and {ii} the rclevance
to the proposals of an epidemiological study called “the Newcastle Study™.

These maiters were dealt with at some length by Lindsay J in his judgment and it will be
unnecessary for me to repeat much of the detail. Part of the argument before the judge
has fallen away, in that Mr George made clear before us that he was no lenger contending
that there was a breach of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact
Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 1999. His remaining contention was
simply that there was a failure to take the post-inquiry submissions inio account as a
material consideration. That contention faces formidable obstacles,
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First, there was no duty to take account of post-inquiry submissions at all. Rule '17(4) of
the Town and Country Planning (Inquiries Procedure) {Wales) Ru[f:s 2003 provides .thai
“[wlhen making its decision, the National Assembly may disregard any vlvn‘t.!cn
representations, evidence or any other document recsived after the close of the inquiry™.

Secondly, the documents make clear on the face of it that, despite the absence of any duty
to do so, the PDC did in fact take account of all post-inquiry submissions. A letter dated
12 January 2005 from Carwyn Jones to the Department of Trade and Industry stated that
the PDC would take them into account. The officers’ report to the PDC stated at para 64
that numerous letters of objection had been submiited since the inquiry, n}amly on
grounds of health, pollution and residential amenity, and that *[tlhe matters ralscq were
mostly dealt with at the inquiry and in our view would not materially affect the decision™
The submissions relevant to this ground were listed in a schedule of post-inguiry
correspondence; and whilst there is no evidence that the schedule and copies of the
correspondence referred to in it were shown to, or made available for inspection by,
members of the PDC, there is equally no evidence that they were not. Finally, the
“minded to grant” letter of 7 February 2005 stated in terms, at para 11:

“The Planning Decision Committee have reached their decision
taking account of all correspondence received afier the inquiry had
closed and they are satisfied that the correspondence raised no new
evidence or new matter of fact which would materially affect their
decision.”

Despite that documentery material, Mr George invited the coutt to infer that the PDC
cannot in fact have had regard 1o the relevant post-inquiry submissions. In my judgment
it is impossible to draw such an inference in this case. In order to explain why that is so, I
furn to consider briefly the relevant post-inquiry submissions and the way the judge dealt
with the issues.

The issue of former fandfill sites is examined at paras 37-45 of Lindsay J's judgment. At
the public inquiry and in the inspector’s report a lot of attention had been dirccted
towards the existence of former waste tips on the application site, the remeval of which
was part of the reclamation objective of the proposed development. Following _lhc
inquiry, Mr W.T. Evans wrote a letter dated 30 January 2005 to Carwyn Jones, drawing
attention to evidence that waste had been deposited over 40 years ago at 2 tip that had not
previously been identified. The judge rejected the contention that there had been a failure
to 1ake that [eiter into consideration. He pointed to the fact that the “minded to grant™
letter of 7 February 2005 stated clearly that the PDC had taken into consideration
correspondence received after the inquiry. He went on {at para 45):

“They thus were stating that Mr Evans® [etter had been taken into
account. There is no proof that that was not so. Whereas, on a
subject of real significance, it can often be right to assume that a
body's feilure to mention it indicates a fatlure by that body to have
considered it, for the reasons [ have given [ cannot see that the
existence of a small hitherto undisclosed former tip close to a
larger known one and consisting of the same type of tipped
material as being so significant that it entitles one to jump from its

103.

104

105.

106.

not being expressly mentioned to a conclusion that it had not been
taken into account at all.”

[agree. The inspector had heard a lot of evidence about the presence of former waste tips
on the application site, the removal of which was part of the reclamation objective, and he
had covered the issue in considerable detail in his report. He was satisfied that the
proposed development would not give rise to significant heatth risks and that surface and
groundwater resources would be adequately safeguarded. One of the conditions
recommended by him and accepted by the PDC was a condition designed to ensure the
profcction of groundwater resaurces in the event that any contamination of a nature not
previously identified was encountered during the development. In alf the circumstances
there was nothing about the additional material that required the PDC to deal with it
expressly, and it was perfectly rational to take the view that it would not materially affect
the decision.

The issue concerning the Newcastle Study is examined at paras 46-52 of the judgment
below. This was a study carried out in north east England to cxamine the effects of dust
on communities close to opencast coal workings, It was the subject of detailed
consideration at the inquiry and in the inspector’s report. Professor Harrison, one of the
expert witnesses called by Miller Argent at the inquiry, relied extensively on the study
and referred in his main proof of evidence to 2 number of published papers describing it,
including one in 2000 and another in 2003. Dr Holman, another cxpert witness called by
Miller Argent, also referred to the 2000 paper. A copy of the 2000 paper was provided as
an appendix 4o the proof of evidence of Dr Holman, but no copy of the 2003 paper was
placed before the inquiry, and it seems that the objectors, who were not legally
represented, did not think of asking for a copy at the time.

Following the inquiry, however, Mr W.T. Evans engaged in corespondence with one of
the authors of the 2003 paper and was sent a copy of the paper. In a letter dated 25
January 2005 to the Planning Inspectorate he made further subnissions based on that
correspondence and the 2003 paper. First, as regards the health effects of the proposed
development, it was submitted by reference to the Farther material that reliance on the
Newcastle Study had been flawed, since the study related only to children and related to
sites that were considerably further away from residential communities than at Ffos-y-
fran and where the workings were of much sherter duration than was proposed for Ffos-
y-fran. Sccondly, reltance was placed on passages in the 2003 paper detailing complaints
by residents about the environmental impact of workings, in particular as regards dust
deposition.

In his conclusions on this issue, Lindsay J stated (at paca 52):

“Mr Lindblom says, rightty in my view, that Professor Harrison
had in mind the distances benween workings and vesidences both
as described in the Newecastle papers and as they would be at Ffos-
y-fran. He came to a rational and informed professionat
conclusion which was not successfully questioned at the Tnquiry
and the Inspector was entitled to accept his evidence. It is not for
me, says Mr Lindblom, now to question Professor Harrison’s
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professional judgment. I accept that argument. The Newecastle
Studies were not new material and had been sufficiently taken into
account by Professor Harrison on whose conclusions and those of
Dr Holman the Inspector was entitled to rely.”

Again T agree. I would add that in my view there was sufficient in the materal actually
available at the inquiry to make clear that the Newcastle Study related to children and to
indicate the distances of the sites from the residential communities concerned, if not also
the duration of the workings at those sites. Morcover the 2003 paper can hardly be
described as vew, given that it was referred to expressly by Professor Harrison not just in
his list of references but in the body of his proof of evidence, In any event, the Newcastie
Study was taken into account in the detailed consideration given by the expert witnesses
at the inquiry, and by the inspector in his report, with regard to the effects of dust on
health and amenity. [n all the circumstances I am satisfied here too that there was nothing
in the additional material that required the PDC to deal with it expressly, and that it was
perfectly rational for the PDC to take the view that it would not materially affect the

decision.

Neither in relation {o former landfill sites nor in relation te the Newcastle Study,
therefore, is there in my view any basis for going behind the clear indications in the
PDC’s documents, in particular in the “minded to grant™ letter of 7 February 2005, that
the post-inguiry submissions had been taken into account, Accordingly, this final ground
of challenge to the PDC's decision must also fail.

Conclusion

109,

I would allow the Assembly’s appeal on the issue of apparent bias and would also find in
the Assembly’s favour in relation to zll the matters raised in the first respondent’s notice.
In my judgment Mrs Condron’s challenge 10 the decision to grant planning permission for
the Ffos-y-fran devefopment must fail and the order of Lindsay J quashing the decision
must be reversed.

Posiseript: vernie

110.

A final point I should mention concemns the venue for the hearing of this case both at first

instance and on appeal. Both hearings took place in London, Yet there are procedures in
place 1o enable Weish judicial review cases and similar statulory challenges to be heard in
the Administrative Court in Wales (see Supperstone, Goudie & Walker, Judiclal Review,
3rd ed., paras 20.19.1-20.19.2 for the relevant references); and there are sittings of the
Civil Division of the Court of Appeal from time to time in Wales. In my view the present
casc cried out to be heard in Wales both at first instance and on appeal, and it is 2 matter
of considerable regret that efforts were not made to have it listed for hearing accordingly.
Practitioners and [isting officers alike need to be alert to this issue.

Lord Justice Wall :
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I have had the great advaniage of reading in draft the judgment of Richards LI, [ find
myself in complete agreement with it. I add a short judgment of my own out of
courlesy {0 Lindsay J and to explain why, like Richards LJ, I part company with the
judge on the question of apparent bias,

I have to acknowledge that, when I first read the papers in preparation for this appeal, [
was attracted by ground 1 in the appellant’s notice. It had clearly been open to the
judge to say in terms that he was making a finding of fact on the balance of
probabilities that Mr. Carwyn Jones had spoken the words attributed to him by Mrs.
Jennic Jones. He had not done so. At first blush it seemed to me at least arguable that 3
critical elernent in the determination that there had been apparent bias was, accordingly,
missing.

Having heard full argument, however, and having read Richards LI's judgment, I am
satisfied that it is in fact plain on a fair reading of the judgment that the judge did make
such a finding, and that his conclusion on apparent bias would simply not made sense
without it. Equally, I respectfully agree with Richards LJ firstly, that the proper
conclusion to draw from the Commissioner’s report is that Mr. Carwyn Jones had denied
uttering the words attribuled to him; and, secondly, that a finding that there was a denial
(which the judge should have madc) is in no sense inconsistent with his finding of fact
that the words were spoken.

Lrespectfully agree with Richards LI that the key to this case is to be found in ground 4 of
the appellant’s notice, and with respect to the judge it is clear to me that in the passages
from paragraphs 66, 67, 68 and 75 of his judgment, which Richards LJ has cited in
paragraphs 49 and 55 above and which I will not set out in full again, the judge applicd
the wrong test. The extracts which Richards LY has cited from FPorter v Magill, Fiaherty
v Greyhound Racing Club Ltd and Gillies v Secretary of State jor Work and Pensions all
make it quite clear, in my judgment, that the test to be applied on the facts of this case is
not what the fair-minded and informed observer would have concluded on 2 February
2005, but what the same observer would conclude having considered all the facts as they
are now known,

I this particular instance, 5 it happens, and whatever the propricty of the disclosure of
the material contained in the Commissioner’s leiter, the key facts are (1) that the material
was disclosed; and (2) that it was disclosed to the protesters themselves. [n my judgment,
therefore, the judge was plainly wrong in paragraph 67 of his judgmeni when he
dismissed the evidence contained in the Commissioner’s fetter of 13 May 2005 to Ms.
Austin with the words: -

.... He {the Commissioner) had, as I have mentioned, evidence which would
not have been open to the hypothetical fair-minded and informed observer. The
evidence before fim would scem to have included matters which should not
have been before him, and which would not only have been denied to the
tiypothetical observer but, as I have mentioned, were denicd to the ohjectars,

If the correct test was, as the judge appears lo suggest in paragraph 75 of his judgment,
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limifed 1o the effect on the fair-minded observer who heard the words spoken by Mr.
Carwyn Janes on 2 February and who ltearned that the Mr, Jones was to be the chair of the
PDC dealing with the planning application on the following day, the judge’s conclusions
in paragraphs 67 and 68 would be comreer. But plainly that is not the comeet test, and
even though the judge, in paragraph 68 of his judgment, impons info his consideration his
own knowledge of the contents of the letter of 13 May 2005 from the Commissioner, he
nonetheless appears to exclude it as relevant to the test, contained in the same senteace,
that the “fair-minded and informed observer, having considered the exiguous facts, would
have concluded on 2 February™ that there was a real possibility of bias on the part of the
Chair of the PDC.

1 am therefore satisfied that the judge’s misapprehension as to the correct test vitiates his
conclusion on the apparent bias issue. It is thus open to us to reach our own conelusion
on the issue, and for the reasons given by Richards L, [ too would find that the allegation
of apparent bias is not made out. Accordingly, I would allow the Assembly’s appeal on
this one ground.

That said, I would like to emphasise my particular agreement with everything Richards
LJ says about ground 2 of the appellant's notice. In my judgment, it is manifestly
unacceptable for a party to use the opportunity provided by the court for editorial and
typographical corrections to be suggested in a draft judgment prior to hand-down as a
means of re-opening an issue on which that party has lost, and which it had ample
opportunity to address during the trial. Iregard Lindsay’s “supplemental” judgment as a
tour de force. I find myself in complete agreement with it, and equally wholly out of
sympathy with the predicament in which the Assembly found itself. Whatever the real
reason for that predicament, the Assembly plainly had only itself to blame for it.

There is nothing I can add to Richards LI's exemplary judgment on the cross-notice, save
to say that 1 agree with it. Like him, therefore, I would allow the appeal on ground 4

only.

Lord Justice Ward :

[ agree with my Lords that we should allow this appeal and restore the decision ol the
WNational Assembly’s Planning Decision Committce granting planning permission, subject
to conditions, for the carrying out of open cast mining and related rcmoval and
reclamation operations at Fes-y-fran. [n deference to Lindsay J., 1 will state shortly my
reasons for disagreeing with his finding that the PDC’s decision was fainted with
apparent bias.

This was not a case where actual bias was alleged, still less established. [t was and is a
case of apparent bias. The test is well settled and was indeed common ground here and
below. it was stated in paragraph 103 of the speech of Lord Hepe of Craighead in Porrer
v Magill [2001] UKHL 67, [2002) 2 AC 259, and explained by Scott Baker L.J. in
Flaterty v National Greyhonnd Racing Club Ltd [20058] EWCA Civ 1117 at paragraph 27
as Richards L.J. has alrcady set out in paragraphs 11 and 38 above. The question is,
therefore, whether the rcasonable, fair-minded and informed obscrver would conclude
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that there was a real risk that Carwyn Jones AM was biased because his mind was closed
by his predetermination to eadorse the Inspector’s Report. That judgment must be made
looking at the matter objectively balancing his comments to Mrs Jennie Jones against any
contrary evidence.

The starting point must be his remark that he was “going with the Inspector’s Report™.
The meaning of those words are not certain, They are capable of meaning cither that he
had made up his mind with the implication that it was closed to any argument or merely
that his preliminary view was in favour of the Report but that his mind was still open to
argument. [t does not seem to me, construing the words in the context in which they were
said, that the latter meaning is so clear that the possibility of his having predetcrmined the
issue ¢an be described as fancifid. The words themselves must, therefore, give rise to the
real possibility of bias and the judge was right so to find. That, however, is not the end of
the matter and therein fay the judge’s error. The informed observer would not make up
his mind baving regard solely to what he heard, but to all the relevant facts and
circumstances of the case and as Scott Baker L.J. has said;

“The relevant circumstances are those apparent to the court upon
investigation; they are not restricted to the circumstances available
to the hypothetical observer at the original hearing. ...".

The question then is: “What are the relevant circumstances?”, Whatever my reservations
cxpressed during the course of the argument, [ am now fully satisfied that it is permissible
to take account of what actually bappened when the PDC made its decision, In Porfer the
Court did not confine itself to what oceurred at the press conference when the provisional
vicws of the auditor were expressed: the way he took his final decision was also relevant,
As Lord Hope said in paragraph 105:

“He [the auditor] was at pains to point out to the press that his
findings were provisional. There is no reason to doubt his word on
this point, as his subsequent conduct demonstrates,” (Emphasis
added by me).

So too in Gillies v Secretary of State for Work and Pensions [2006] UKHL 2, [2006] |
WLR 781 where the possible bias of the medical member of the Disability Appeal
Tribunal was in issue, the facts taken into account by the House of Lords included an
analysis of the actual decision of the Tribunal.

Thus [ am now fully satisfied that it is permissible to have regard to the unchallenged
report of the Commissioner for Standards that the deliberation of the PDC was:

“... unusually prolonged as Carwyn Fores AM (whe chaired the
meeting) and the other Assembly Members on the Commitiee fully
explored the many issues and representations about the scheme
before coming to a final decision.”
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One cannot read too much into that. True it is that if the meeting of the PDC had been all
over in a matter of minutes, then the inference that minds had been made up in advance
would be the stronger. That the deliberations lasted so long smacks much more of open
minded debate than of blind, pig-headed adherence to pre-cast, set views. It militales
against the possibility of bias.

The nature of the issuc to be resolved is another relevant factor, Here there had been a
full inquiry held before the Inspector. The Merthyr Tydfil County Barough Couneil
supported the application for planning permission. No substantive objection was offered
by any of the statutory consultees, The opposition case was fully presented at the inquiry.
The conclusion of the Inspector’s thorcugh Report was to recommend the planning
permission being granted.  The officers of the Assembly’s Planning Division accepted
that conclusion subject to conditions. OFf course it was open to the members of the PDC
{o come to a concluded view that the recommendation should nof be accepied but they
would need good planning grounds to do so and it would not come as a suprise to the
fair-minded informed observer that a provisional view was in favour of endorsing the
recommendation. It would perhaps be surprising if it were otherwise. In those
circumstances, “I am going with the Inspector”” is much more likely 1o mean, “On all |
have read and all I know at the moment, but subject to further argument, I am going with
the Inspector”.

The observer who is neither complacent nor unduly sensitive or suspicious can, however,
be taken to appreciate that, even though the members of the PDC are not judicial officers
wheo have taken their judicial oath, nonetheless they had by the Standing Orders of the
Assembly completed a course of relevant training, they had agreed to be bound by the
current Code of Conduct and that required their “bringing an unbiased, properly directed
and independent mind to their consideration of the matter” Tt would be a total
abnegation of those duties to enter the Committee Room with a mind immaovably made
up. This was a highly sensitive decision to take and the fair-minded observer would
assume that it would be taken fairly and justly.

It would kave been cbvious to ail that the developers’ proposals would arouse passion in
the local community, Indeed, in the conversation with which we are concerned, reference
was made to its impact on the children in the locality. Lord Hope defined impartiality in
Gifles in this way at paragraph 23:

“Imparttality consists in the absence of a predisposition to favour
the interests of either side in the dispute.”

Yet there was nothing anywhere to suggest that Carwyn Jones had  taken
side ove way or the other.

Carwyn Jones' words were unwise, cven injudicious, and hearing them might well have

caused eyebrows to rise, But the informed observer would pause and stand back, then

look at all the facts objectively, He would know thal professional detachment and the
trained ability to exercise independent judgment [ie at the heart of the excrcise of his
function as a decision-maker especially in a case of such importance and sensitivity for
the local community that it required the PDC to decide it. Bearing all matiers in mind,
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the fair and informed observer would not, in my judgment, find that there was a real
possibility that the Chairman of this Committee had predetermined the issue. The facts
do not give rise to a real possibility of bias.

For those short reasons and for the reasons much more fully set out by Richards L.J., with
which I agree, I would allow this appeal. I wish 10 express particular agreement with the
postseript to his judgment, If ever there were a case to be heard in Wales, this was it and
I repeat my apologies expressed at the conclusion of the hearing to all of those who had
needlessly to travel to London.




